
ELECTORAL AREA SERVICES COMMITTEE 
Thursday, January 18, 2024 

TO BE HELD 
IN THE BOARDROOM OF THE SUNSHINE COAST 

REGIONAL DISTRICT OFFICES AT 1975 FIELD ROAD, SECHELT, B.C. 
AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 9:30 a.m. 

AGENDA 

1. Adoption of Agenda  Page 1 

PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

REPORTS 

2. Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) –
Consideration of Third Reading – Electoral Area F
Planner I
Electoral Area F - Rural Planning (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex A 
pp 2 - 35 

3. Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) -
Electoral Area F
Planning Technician
Electoral Area F - Rural Planning (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex B 
pp 36 - 45 

4. Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis
Peninsula Road) – Electoral Area A
Planner II
Electoral Area A - Rural Planning (Voting – A, B, D, E, F)

Annex C 
pp 46 - 54 

5. Ports Monitors Committee Meeting Minutes of December 11, 2023
Ports Service (Voting – B, D, E, F)

Annex D 
pp 55 - 57 

COMMUNICATIONS 

NEW BUSINESS 

IN CAMERA 

That the public be excluded from attendance at the meeting in accordance with 
Section 90 (1) (a) of the Community Charter – “personal information about an 
identifiable individual who holds or is being considered for a position as an 
officer, employee or agent of the municipality or another position appointed by 
the municipality.” 

ADJOURNMENT 

1



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Electoral Area Services Committee – January 18, 2024 

AUTHOR: Alana Wittman, Planner II 

SUBJECT: Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) – 
Consideration of Third Reading 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

(1) THAT the report titled Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) –
Consideration of Third Reading be received;

(2) AND THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 be forwarded to the Board for Third
Reading;

(3) AND FURTHER THAT prior to adoption of Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6, the
following conditions be met:

• Approval by the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure pursuant to Section
52 of the Transportation Act;

• Payment of Affordable Housing Contribution valued at $120,000 be secured by
transfer of funds, or registration of a Land Title Act Section 219 covenant that
requires the payment of the Affordable Housing Contribution prior to
consideration of subdivision.

BACKGROUND 

The Sunshine Coast Regional District (SCRD) received a Zoning Bylaw Amendment application 
to amend the zoning (from RU1 to R2) and subdivision district (from I to C) of a property at 268 
Stella Maris Road in Area F - West Howe Sound. The purpose of Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
722.6 (Attachment A) is to enable a future residential subdivision. The conceptual subdivision 
plan, which envisages a total of up to 16 lots, is provided in Attachment B. 

On July 27, 2023, the SCRD Board adopted Resolution 224/23 as follows: 

Recommendation No. 6   Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) 

THAT the report titled Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) – 
Consideration of First and Second Readings be received for information; 

AND THAT Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 be forwarded to the Board for First and 
Second Readings; 

AND THAT a Public Hearing to consider Amendment Zoning Bylaw No. 722.6 be 
arranged; 

AND FURTHER THAT Director Toth be delegated as the Chair and Director Stamford 
be delegated as the Alternate Chair for the Public Hearing. 

ANNEX A

2



Electoral Area Services Committee – January 18, 2024 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) – Consideration of Third 
Reading 2 

Pursuant to this resolution, a public hearing was held on October 17, 2023. This report provides 
a summary of the public hearing and recommends Third Reading and Conditional Adoption of 
the bylaw. 

Table 1: Application Summary 

Legal Description       BLOCK 15 EXCEPT: PART DEDICATED FOR ROAD ON PLAN 
LMP4631; DISTRICT LOT 1402 PLAN 737 

PID 010-536-418 

Electoral Area Area F (West Howe Sound) 

Parcel Area 3.84 Hectares 

OCP Designation Residential 

Current Zoning Residential Rural One (RU1) 

Current Subdivision District I (4 ha minimum) 

Proposed Zoning Residential Two (R2) 

Proposed Subdivision District C (0.2 ha minimum) 

Discussion 

Public Hearing Summary 

A public hearing to consider the proposed bylaw was held at the Eric Cardinall Hall on October 
17, 2023. Approximately ten people attended the meeting. Written submissions received before 
noon (12:00 PM) on the day of the public hearing also form part of the public record. A Public 
Hearing Report, including minutes from the Public Hearing and all written submissions are 
provided in Attachment C. 
The following is a summary of main comment themes shared through verbal and written Public 
Hearing submissions: 

• Traffic – concerns about increased number of vehicles on residential roads and pedestrian
safety given the lack of sidewalks.

o Staff Comment: The Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) is
responsible for local road network planning in the SCRD. Staff will provide MOTI with
the Public Hearing feedback from the community on traffic concerns and MOTI
approval will be required prior to the adoption of Bylaw 722.6.

• Proposed Zoning – both support and opposition to changing the zoning to R2.
• Proposed Subdivision District - both support and opposition to changing the subdivision

district to “C” which enables lots of 0.2 ha (half acre) or larger.
• Land Alteration – concern regarding the impact of development on aquifer recharge and

increased runoff and erosion should stormwater management be inadequate.
o Staff Comment: The subject parcel contains Development Permit Areas (DPA),

including DPA 5 (Aquifer Protection and Stormwater Management), that must be
addressed through issuance of a permit as a condition of subdivision before any land
alteration can take place.

3



Electoral Area Services Committee – January 18, 2024 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) – Consideration of Third 
Reading 3 

West Howe Sound Official Community Plan – Affordable Housing Policy 7.3.4(ii) 

OCP Policy 7.3.4(ii) requires that a contribution to affordable housing be made in the form of 
housing unit, land, or money for all OCP or Zoning Bylaw Amendments applications where 
development will create a total of more than 3 lots outside of village hubs or similar settlement 
cluster areas. 
Based on the revised conceptual subdivision plan provided by the applicant, the contribution 
was determined for up to $120,000. The applicant would need to pay the contribution in full to 
the SCRD prior to the bylaw being adopted or register a Section 219 Land Title Act convent on 
title that requires the contribution be paid prior to consideration of subdivision. 
Staff intend for the contribution to be used to fund further policy development related to 
community amenity contributions / development-related financing with an emphasis on actioning 
affordable housing initiatives. Should this application proceed to adoption, a future staff report 
will seek Board direction on how to allocate the proposed contribution. 

Timeline for Next Steps 

If the Board gives the proposed bylaw Third Reading, the SCRD will send a referral to MOTI. 
Approval from MOTI, in accordance with Section 52 of the Transportation Act, for a bylaw within 
a radius of 800 metres from the intersection of a controlled access highway, would be needed 
prior to adoption. As stated above, the applicant would also need to pay the affordable housing 
contribution in full to the SCRD or register a Section 219 covenant on title prior to adoption.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

N/A 

CONCLUSION

The SCRD received a Zoning Bylaw Amendment application to amend the zoning (RU1 to R2) 
and Subdivision District (I to C) at 268 Stella Marris Road in Area F - West Howe Sound. The 
purpose of the zoning bylaw amendment is to enable the proposed subdivision and future 
residential development. This proposal is consistent with the West Howe Sound Official 
Community Plan.  

Staff recommend that Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw Amendment 722.6 be 
presented to the Board for Third Reading. Prior to adoption, MOTI approval is required in 
accordance with Section 52 of the Transportation Act and the applicant will need to pay the 
affordable housing contribution in full to the SCRD or register a Section 219 covenant on title. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Zoning Amendment Bylaw 722.6 
Attachment B – Preliminary Subdivision Plan  
Attachment C – Public Hearing Report 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – J. Jackson CFO/Finance X - T.Perreault 
GM X – I. Hall Legislative X - S.Reid 
CAO X - D. McKinley Assistant 

Manager 
X - K. Jones 

4



Electoral Area Services Committee – January 18, 2024 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6 (268 Stella Maris Road) – Consideration of Third 
Reading 4 

SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

BYLAW NO. 722.6 

A bylaw to amend the Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 722, 2019 

The Board of Directors of the Sunshine Coast Regional District, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
PART A – CITATION 

1. This bylaw may be cited as Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw
No. 722.6, 2023.

PART B – AMENDMENT 

2. Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Bylaw No. 722, 2019 is hereby amended as
follows:

a. Amend Schedule A by rezoning BLOCK 15 EXCEPT: PART DEDICATED FOR
ROAD ON PLAN LMP4631; DISTRICT LOT 1402 PLAN 737 from RU1 (Residential
Rural One) to R2 (Residential Two)

b. Amend Schedule B by re-designating BLOCK 15 EXCEPT: PART DEDICATED FOR
ROAD ON PLAN LMP4631; DISTRICT LOT 1402 PLAN 737 from Subdivision District
I to Subdivision District C

PART C – ADOPTION 

READ A FIRST TIME this 27TH DAY OF JULY, 2023 

READ A SECOND TIME this 27TH DAY OF JULY, 2023 

PUBLIC HEARING HELD PURSUANT TO THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT this  17TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2023 

READ A THIRD TIME this #### DAY OF, YEAR 

APPROVED PURSUANT TO SECTION 52 OF 
THE TRANSPORTATION ACT this #### DAY OF, YEAR 

ADOPTED this #### DAY OF, YEAR 

Corporate Officer 

Chair 

Attachment A

5



PLAN 737

PLAN 737

PLAN LMP5676

PLAN 7429

PLAN 7429PLAN LMP5676

PLAN 737

PLAN 737

NO PLAN

'A'

9

12

11

Bk 15

8

Bk 16

Rem 13

1

DL 1401

Rem Bk 15

DL 1402

4
1/03−7λ²

5
11/6−1λ²

00
1///−5λ²

01
1/21−/λ²

03
1//0−/λ²

617−8λ²

15/0−/λ²

1
1//0−/λ²

02
1//4−4λ²

04
1//0−/λ²

2
1//0−/λ²

0
1//0−/λ²

8
1465−/λ² 0/

2700−0λ²

6
2063−7λ²

7
2/32−7λ²

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

41
−8

3/

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

3/
−6

71

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

15
−7

//

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

11
−2

06

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

11
−1

82

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

10
−8

01

Ρ
/↓

/5
&3

5!
ς

6−
82

/

Ρ78↓24&17!ς

80−786

Μ
/↓

01
&0

0!
ς

6−
82

/Ρ78↓24&18!ς

06−550

Ρ78↓24&18!ς

8/−478

Μ
/↓

/4
&/

0!
ς

11
−2

4/

Μ
/↓

/4
&/

0!
ς

11
−0

//

Μ
/↓

/4
&/

0!
ς

11
−0

/6

Μ
/↓

/4
&/

0!
ς

45
−2

38

Ρ6/↓/4&30!∆63−084

Ρ40↓06&01!∆
05−/80

Κ<06−174
Θ<1/−///

Χ</38−4055

Κ<0/−7/0
Θ<1/−///

Χ</2/−8304

Κ<5−077
Θ<1/−///

Χ</06−6153

Κ<00−460
Θ<1/−///

Χ</22−0371

Κ<04−415

Θ<1/−///

Χ</33−3674

Κ<6−686
Θ<1/−///
Χ</11−2268

Κ<5−/42
Θ<1/−///
Χ</06−23//

Κ<02−186
Θ<1/−///
Χ</27−/824

Κ<05−1/2
Θ<1/−///
Χ</35−3062

Μ45↓37&27!ς

05−8/8

Ρ78↓45&14!ς

55−8/2

Μ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
ς

10
−7

25

Μ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
ς

11
−0

//

Μ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
ς

11
−0

/6

Μ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
ς

2−
/2

1

Ρ78↓43&48!ς

8/−4/0

Ρ3/↓4/&07!∆

50−8/6

Ρ36↓28&13!∆
32−643

Ρ40↓06&01!∆
05−376

Μ46↓18&05!∆

05−347

Μ76↓43&43!∆

55−400

Μ36
↓0

7&3
3!

∆

04
−48

5

Μ55↓00&28!∆

65−310

Ρ78↓42&03!∆

78−806

Ρ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
∆

0−
53

8

Ρ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
∆

11
−2

06

Ρ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
∆

11
−1

82

Ρ
/↓

/8
&1

7!
∆

11
−6

16

Ρ78↓42&03!∆

78−700

Ρ78↓42&03!∆

78−6/5

Ρ78↓24&18!ς
1−228

Μ78↓24&18!∆

78−5/1

Ρ78↓43&48!ς

8/−42/

Ρ78↓43&48!ς

8/−448

Μ78↓23&28!∆

5/−634

Μ78↓23&28!∆

41−485

Μ78↓23&28!∆

20−751

Μ78↓23&28!∆

44−518

Ρ
1↓

02
&3

4!
∆

48
−7

23

Ρ36
↓0

7&3
3!

ς
31

−36
1Μ

02
↓1

8&
37

!∆
2/

−1
28

Μ
/↓

34
&0

2!
ς

41
−2

81

Ρ
07↓20&38!∆

35−001

Ρ
12↓/2&42!∆

31−/16

3
1/15−0λ²

Μ
/↓

/4
&/

0!
ς

13
−8

37
Μ

/↓
/4

&/
0!

ς
28

−0
25

Ο
ΚΝ

Σ
 Χ

≅
Σ

∆
9 

Λ
ξ

 7
+ 1

/1
2

 ,
 Β

9[Τ
ρδ

θρ
[Χ

Β
µ

χδ
υ 

Β
νµ

ρτ
κση

µφ
 Χ

θν
οα

νω
≅

Μ
Χ

∆
Υ
�Θ

Ν
Ι∆

Β
Σ

Ρ
[1

2/
3 

, 
Γ

νο
ϕη

µρ
 Κ

µ
χη

µφ
[Β

≅
Χ

[Ε
ηµ

κ
[1

2/
3 

Κν
σ Κ

ξ
ντ

σ−χ
ϖ

φ

ΟΘΝΙ∆ΒΣ Μν− Χ≅Σ∆

ΡΒ≅Κ∆ Χ∆ΡΗΦΜ ΑΞ

ΒΓ∆Βϑ∆Χ ΑΞ

ΧςΦ− ΜΝ−

Θ∆Υ−ΡΤΘΥ∆Ξ∆Χ ΑΞ

ΡΓ∆∆Σ− ΜΝ−

ΒΚΗ∆ΜΣΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ Χ∆ΡΒΘΗΟΣΗΝΜ

ΝΕ

ςςς−Κ≅ΜΧ∆ΥΒΝΜΡΤΚΣΗΜΦ−Β≅
EMAIL: INFO@LANDEVCONSULTING.CA        PH: 604-989-7300

,ΧΗΡΒΚ≅ΗΛ∆Θ,
ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ ς≅Ρ ΟΘ∆Ο≅Θ∆Χ ΑΞ Κ≅ΜΧ∆Υ ΒΝΜΡΤΚΣΗΜΦ ΗΜΒ− ΕΝΘ ΣΓ∆ ≅ΒΒΝΤΜΣ ΝΕ ΣΓ∆ ΒΚΗ∆ΜΣ ΚΗΡΣ∆Χ ΝΜ ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ− ΣΓ∆ Λ≅Σ∆ΘΗ≅Κ ΝΜ ΗΣ Θ∆ΕΚ∆ΒΣΡ Κ≅ΜΧ∆Υ&Ρ Α∆ΡΣ
ΙΤΧΦΛ∆ΜΣ ΗΜ ΣΓ∆ ΚΗΦΓΣ ΝΕ ΗΜΕΝΘΛ≅ΣΗΝΜ ≅Υ≅ΗΚ≅ΑΚ∆ ΣΝ ΗΣ ≅Σ ΣΓ∆ ΣΗΛ∆ ΝΘ ΟΘ∆Ο≅Θ≅ΣΗΝΜ− ≅ΜΞ ΤΡ∆ ςΓΗΒΓ ≅ ΣΓΗΘΧ Ο≅ΘΣΞ Λ≅ϑ∆Ρ ΝΕ ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ+ ΝΘ ≅ΜΞ Θ∆ΚΗ≅ΜΒ∆
ΝΜ ΝΘ Χ∆ΒΗΡΗΝΜΡ ΣΝ Α∆ Λ≅Χ∆ Α≅Ρ∆Χ ΝΜ ΗΣ+ ≅Θ∆ ΣΓ∆ Θ∆ΡΟΝΜΡΗΑΗΚΗΣΞ ΝΕ ΡΤΒΓ ΣΓΗΘΧ Ο≅ΘΣΗ∆Ρ− Κ≅ΜΧ∆Υ ≅ΒΒ∆ΟΣΡ ΜΝ Θ∆ΡΟΝΜΡΗΑΗΚΗΣΞ ΕΝΘ Χ≅Λ≅Φ∆Ρ+ ΗΕ ≅ΜΞ+ ΡΤΕΕ∆Θ∆Χ
ΑΞ ΣΓ∆ ΣΓΗΘΧ Ο≅ΘΣΞ ≅Ρ ≅ Θ∆ΡΤΚΣ ΝΕ Χ∆ΒΗΡΗΝΜΡ Λ≅Χ∆ ΝΘ ≅ΒΣΗΝΜΡ Α≅Ρ∆Χ ΝΜ ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ− ΒΝΟΗ∆Ρ Θ∆ΡΤΚΣΗΜΦ ΕΘΝΛ ∆Κ∆ΒΣΘΝΜΗΒ ΣΘ≅ΜΡΕ∆Θ ΝΘ Θ∆ΟΘΝΧΤΒΣΗΝΜ ΝΕ
ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ ≅Θ∆ ΤΜΒΝΜΣΘΝΚΚ∆Χ ≅ΜΧ Λ≅Ξ ΜΝΣ Α∆ ΣΓ∆ ΛΝΡΣ Θ∆Β∆ΜΣ Θ∆ΥΗΡΗΝΜ ΝΕ ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ−  ΒΝΟΞΘΗΦΓΣ Θ∆Ρ∆ΘΥ∆Χ− ΣΓΗΡ ΧΘ≅ςΗΜΦ ≅ΜΧ Χ∆ΡΗΦΜ ≅Θ∆+ ≅ΜΧ ≅Σ
≅ΚΚ ΣΗΛ∆Ρ Θ∆Λ≅ΗΜ ΣΓ∆ ∆ΩΒΚΤΡΗΥ∆ ΟΘΝΟ∆ΘΣΞ ΝΕ Κ≅ΜΧ∆Υ ΒΝΜΡΤΚΣΗΜΦ ΗΜΒ− ΣΓ∆Ξ Β≅ΜΜΝΣ Α∆ ΤΡ∆Χ+ Θ∆ΟΘΝΧΤΒ∆Χ ΝΘ ΧΗΡΣΘΗΑΤΣ∆Χ ςΗΣΓΝΤΣ ςΘΗΣΣ∆Μ ≅ΟΟΘΝΥ≅Κ−

Μν− Χ≅Σ∆ Θ∆ΥΗΡΗΝΜ ΑΞ

ΜΝΣ ΕΝΘ ΒΝΜΡΣΘΤΒΣΗΝΜ

ΧΒ

ΡΑ

Α∆ΜΜ∆ΣΣ

12/3

094//

ΟΘΝΟΝΡ∆Χ 04 ΚΝΣ ΡΤΑΧΗΥΗΡΗΝΜ
ΚΝΣ Κ≅ΞΝΤΣ ΟΚ≅Μ

ΡΣ∆ΚΚ≅ Λ≅ΘΗΡ ΒΝΛΛΤΜΗΣΞ Χ∆Υ∆ΚΝΟΛ∆ΜΣ ΚΣΧ−
37/4 ΧΝΜΡΧ≅Κ∆ ΧΘΗΥ∆+ ∆ΧΛΝΜΣΝΜ ≅ΚΣ≅+ Σ5Λ 1Μ1

ΚΚ
0

1/12,/4,/7

0

157 ΡΣ∆ΚΚ≅ Λ≅ΘΗΡ ΘΝ≅Χ+ ΦΗΑΡΝΜΡ

Κ∆Φ≅Κ Χ∆ΡΒΘΗΟΣΗΝΜ9
ΑΚΝΒϑ 04 ∆ΩΒ∆ΟΣ9 Ο≅ΘΣ Χ∆ΧΗΒ≅Σ∆Χ ΕΝΘ ΘΝ≅Χ ΝΜ
ΟΚ≅Μ ΚΛΟ 3520: ΧΚ 03/1 ΟΚ≅Μ 626
ΟΗΧ9 /0/,425,307
ΒΗΥΗΒ ≅ΧΧΘ∆ΡΡ9 157 ΡΣ∆ΚΚ≅ Λ≅ΘΗΡ ΘΝ≅Χ

Χ≅ΣΤΛ9 ∆Κ∆Υ≅ΣΗΝΜΡ ≅Θ∆ Φ∆ΝΧ∆ΣΗΒ ≅ΜΧ Θ∆Ε∆Θ
ΣΝ ΡΛ≅ΘΣΜ∆Σ Θ∆Ε∆Θ∆ΜΒ∆ ΡΣ≅ΣΗΝΜΡ ΑΒΡ∆
∋ΘΣΒΛ⊥Θ∆Ε⊥3/10(−

/

094//
0/ 2/λ

ΡΣ∆ΚΚ≅ Λ≅ΘΗΡ ΘΝ≅Χ

Ρ
Σ

 ≅
Μ

Χ
Θ

∆
ς

Ρ
 Θ

Ν
≅

Χ

Υ
ΗΡ

Σ
≅

 Ε
ΙΝ

Θ
Χ

 Θ
Ν

≅
Χ

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

ΟΘΝΟ− Γ∆≅ΚΣΓ
ΒΝΥ∆Μ≅ΜΣ 424λ±

1/−/58λ
Θ

−Ν
−ς

−

01−/87λ
Θ

−Ν
−ς

−

1/−///λ
Θ−Ν−ς−

0/−//λ ≅ΚΘ
ΑΤΕΕ∆Θ

ΟΘΝΟ− Φ∆ΝΣ∆ΒΓΜΗΒ≅Κ Ρ∆ΣΑ≅Βϑ

6−82/λ
Χ

∆
Χ

ΗΒ
≅

Σ
ΗΝ

Μ

Χ∆ΧΗΒ≅ΣΗΝΜ

ΘΝ≅Χ ΘΝς

1/−///λ
Θ−Ν−ς−



Attachment B

6

http://WWW.LANDEVCONSULTING.CA
mailto:INFO@LANDEVCONSULTING.CA


SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT

REPORT OF A PUBLIC HEARING HELD AT
Eric Cardinall Hall at 930 Chamberlin Road,

West Howe Sound (Shirley Macey Park)
October 17, 2023

Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 7226, 2023.

PRESENT: Chair, District of Sechelt Director A. Toth
Alternate Chair, Area F Director K. Stamford

ALSO PRESENT: Corporate Officer S. Reid
Manager, Planning and Development J. Jackson
Planner II A. Wittman
Applicant
Recording Secretary G. Dixon
Members of the Public 12+!- (part)

CALL TO ORDER

The public hearing for Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6, 2023.
was called to order at 7:05 p.m.

The Chair introduced elected officials and staff in attendance and read prepared remarks with respect to
the procedures to be followed at the public hearing.

PRESENTATION OF THE PROPOSED BYLAWS

The Planner II provided a presentation summarizing the proposed bylaw Sunshine Coast Regional District
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6, 2023.

The Chair called a first time for submissions.

PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS AT PUBLIC HEARING

Jim Green, 661 Franklin Road

Spoke in favour of the application, is the authorized agent for the landowner.
Half acre zoning dominates in Hopkins Landing does not exist on this property.
Approximately a 10-acre site with potential 1/2 acre zoning.
Official Community Plan is the community vision for growth and supports half acre properties.
North side of the property is Agricultural Land Reserve.
Two development permit areas on the property.
Biologist and Geotechnical engineers provided a statement that the property has the capacity for half acre
zoning based on their analysis.
Soil groups were looked at for septic systems.
An advocate for rural development, precedent for half acre rural lots.
Community needs to grow to enjoy the rural lifestyle.

Attachment C

7



Sunshine Coast Regional District Page 2 of 2

Report of a Public Hearing held October 17, 2023 regarding Bylaw No. 722.6, 2023

Jennifer Marshall, 693 Franklin Road

Understands the issues at hand, supports people in social housing situations and how important it is to
create opportunities for land development on larger rural properties.
In support of this application, a gentle densification.

Barry Marshall, 693 Franklin Road

There is a shortage of housing and rental properties on the Sunshine Coast.
The application is within character and its merits are well-known in the general development character.
In support of the application.

The Chair called a second time for submissions.

The Chair called a third time for submissions.

CLOSURE

The Chair called a final time for submissions. There being no further submissions, the Chair announced
the public hearing for proposed Sunshine Coast Regional District Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 722.6,
2023 closed at 7:25 p.m.

The Chair thanked everyone for attending the public hearing.

Certified fair and correct: Prepared by:

h,hai G.Di::n, Recording Secretary

8



WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED 
BEFORE NOON ON OCTOBER 17, 

2023, IN RESPONSE TO THE 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  

9



Received October 16, 2023 
 

Hello Alana  
We share the concern Ms Sosnowski  
has outlined in her letter to you and hope that you will be able to address those issues in your next 
meeting on Tuesday. 
Please include me with a copy of the minutes of the meeting. 
Thank you very much 
Gary Meixner 
1213 St Andrews Rd, Gibsons, BC V0N 1V1, Canada 
604 992 1253 
 
---------- Forwarded message --------- 
From: Vivienne Sosnowski <vsosnowski@yahoo.com> 
Date: Sun, Oct 15, 2023, 1:11 p.m. 
Subject: Subject: SCRD's alarming By-Law Amendment 722.6 (BYL00047) (Email from Vivienne Sosnowski 
to SCRD Planner) 
To: G. Meixner <gary.meixner@gmail.com> 
 
Hello, Ms. Wittman: 

I have written before to you on this matter. 

However, I have recently measured the narrow, winding rural road with four dangerous 90-
degree turns within it - a road which will be the only entry way into the land covered by this 
amendment. And I offer the SCRD these new calculations which I hope might affect the final 
decision on this amendment. 

The narrow, rural road is 1.1 km long. (It has 3 names, but is only one road joined together, its 
north and south ends both exiting on North Road).  

It was originally designed as a mere cul-de-sac. 

There are FOUR 90-degree corners on this road that require constant vigilance by drivers. 

That means on average EVERY 275 metres, there is a troublesome 90-degree corner.  

I am convinced no-one who drives this road regularly would contemplate adding a possible 200-
300 car journeys a day to it. Here are some possible scenarios for the SCRD to consider: 

• Seventeen lots zoned R2 = 34 homes = probably 34 households, some of which are allowed in 
R2 to be care homes. 

•34 homes - probably 68 cars, unless there are teens when there might be 3-4 cars per 
household. The adults would likely drive in/out twice a day for work, plus some driving in the 

10



the evening to sports, shopping, etc. Weekend trips would probably be comparable as people 
shop, visit friends, go out to eat, go to sports practices, golfing, social clubs, etc. 

• The teens would drive similar journeys no doubt: school, sports and other practices, social
lives, shopping.

•The care homes would involve perhaps even more car journeys with workers coming and
going one each way every day, social workers and other support workers would be traveling the
short, narrow, rural road regularly as well.

I add this up to, in my considered opinion, a very treacherous 200-300 additional car journeys 
per day on this 1.1k narrow, winding, rural road with four quite alarming 90-degree turns on it. 
Who would want to drive this road? In winter? Who would want to walk this road - summer or 
winter? Who would want their children to walk this road in summer, or to the school bus or 
local bus in winter? 

I have hoped for a long time that the area involved would be developed for many reasons but 
only for perhaps eight single family homes. Why destroy the safety and the quality our 
environment on the Sunshine Coast is famous for, and one we should be treasuring. Why turn 
this area into a dangerous, environmentally and life-threatening hazard. 

I thank you for considering this email.   
I hope the SCRD will in the very near future abandon this very, very scary amendment. 
Allbest/Vivienne Sosnowski 

PS. I have also written again similarly to Michael Braun at MoTI on this issue to tell him of my 
road measurements as he tells me MoTI will be involved in the discussion of the rezone. 

11



����������	
�����������������	����������������������������������� ��!"�#�$%��&%�������'(�'��)�*
)����""��+�����,&-.�����!/012345267289:9;:9<2898= >?@ABCDEFGHIEJKGLM@NM@OBGNOP@QRQHGPSTNMHUEVEWMBBCKXM@AC@NCEGAACA >YZI[CNO\]̂_̀11a1b>c86=7=de>fgh999d;>i01a1b>fj_̀k>lmn1omn15>969pq=7pd6<>r87<>s5n__̀>/ t̀au>vowxM\y_̀11a1bz4015̀45{u4to{4̀|GOC\/01}>67>345>898=>89:97:q8>p9;99~BMH\�l1otnk>h̀m��>�ù�014015t̀45a1bzbm à_{40m�?KEGE�BCKPAC@OEG@A�MBESG@AMD@CB�EP@EO�CEYW�|E�EGHEDBPOP@QEO�PKEC�HGPSEP@�KZXXMBOEM�EO�CE�M@P@QEI�SGDEGHC@AHC@OE��F�����EXBMXMKCA�MBE@CDE���EGNBCESMOKEP@E�MX�P@KEFG@AP@QT�sn15>�t0m>mj>â�01n
12

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	��������������������������������������������������� ��!��"������#$%&'()*'+,'-+./0./1'-/-1 234567895:7;<=68>?4567@5:7;<=6A:B5C4DE<BF8G8HCEI7J8E=75J7; 2K5J7L$%&M2+,2()*2-/-12-+./,.NN2O/0//H<LPQR&&S&TUV)WXY)RZ[?\7EJLRPPQS)R*S%&2]%W2Ŵ_%&̂2̀%PaS&V2bR&XS&Tc=<BLdeQR&̂2̀RT̂X%W&d2fgQR&̂hRT̂X%W&UTiRSQY)%ijkV2R2ŴVSX̂&*2QR&X%l&̂W2S&2*ĥ2mnop2'S2lWS*̂2S&2VqPP%W*2%]2*ĥ2_%&S&T2grQRl2Ri &̂X2i &̂*'2esb///N02'PW%P%VRQ2]%W2+t-2R)Ŵ2Q%*V2S&2̀%PaS&V2bR&XS&T2YYuhR&ar%q2'2'eQR&̂2̀RT̂X%W&
13

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	�������������������������   ���!����"��#$�%�&'��('���� � )��)����*
�����$$��+�����,(-.�����#/01234526726789:89;2<=<> ?@ABCDEFGAAHIHADJKDLMNONPQBBAFRQSTASDANLTTAT ?ULHAV/01W?67?345?<=<>?<>89:8>X?Y====Z[\]ADHV̂_8?̀abc11d1e?f<6>7>9g?hij===9:?k01d1e?hlbcm?nop1qop15?=6=rs>7r96X?t<7X?u5pbbc?/cvdw?xqyzQV{|bc11d1e}4015c45~w4vq~4c{?�|bc11d1e}4015c45~w4vq~4c��BQ�V{�vd4?umpp5{?�pvd4}wmpp5�5p4�~4c�nw?c?b01e?5dopW?w�1w�d1p?40cw5?vpwdqp15W?c1q?bc1q0m1pvW?c45d�p?40oo�1d5l?opo�pvW?c1q?��wd1pww?0m1pvW?�?co?mvd5d1e?5�dw?pocdb?d1?w�||0v5?0�?5�p?�01d1e�lbcm?cop1qop15?hij===9:?5�c5?dw?|v0|0wpq?�0v?1pm?�?c4vp?b05w?d1?�0|�d1w?jc1qd1e~22/l?up4�pb5?pbpop15cvl?w4�00b?�pw5?�vdp1q?0�?0�pv?9s?lpcvw?bd�pw?d1?�0|�d1wW?c1q?d5?dw?c?1pde��0v�00q?5�c5?ol?�dqw?c1q?�?p1�0l?�pvl?o�4�~2?_p?w�||0v55�dw?�lbcm?cop1qop15~22�d1q?vpecvqwW2��������������������������������� ¡���¢�����£¤¥¥¦§§§§§§§̈©ª«¬§©ª§®©ª��̄°±²³́ µµ¶·¶µ±̧�±¹�º»¹°¼¶½¾�̄°±²³́ µµ¶·¶µ±̧�±¹¿2
14

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	����������������������������������� ��!"�#�$%��&%�������'(�'��)�*
)����""��+�����,&-.�����!/01234526728698:98;28<8: =>?@AB??CDE?FGCHB?@AB??IE?FGJKBLMFENO@LPCQCR@AA?ST@GU?GO?CMUU?U =V@WXYZ11[1\]4015Z45̂_4̀â4Zbcde?OfWghai=jkYZ11[1\=l86:7:;m=nop<<<;q=r01[1\=nsYZh=tuv1auv15=<6<wx:7w;6y=z87y={5vYYZ=/Z̀[_=|a}~Mf?W/01�=67=345=8<8:=8898:9<y=w<7<<�A@LW��v0̀\vv=�Yv[1�=�\v0̀\vv�Yv[1:]\uZ[Ŷ40u��SCMCEMGU@�G?ACFGCf�?CbR�~C�CMLC�AFfFGBCf�FSC?�LMFECFG�ScTT@AfC@�Cf�?C�@GFGBCd�EM�CML?GUL?GfC��������CTA@T@S?U��@ACG?�C���CMOA?CE@fSCFG�@TIFGSC�MGUFGBNC�|v\Z̀a_��v0̀\[1Z=�Yv[1qy<w��<w7x�y
15

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	���������������������������������� ��!"�#�$%��&%�������'(�'��)�*
)����""��+�����,&-.�����!/01234526726896696:2:;:< =>?@ABCDEFGHIJKAIBHCL@MN?O@PQMMBHJRMANSCTCUAIIH@OABQHBMHC?QQHQ =VIANWXYZ[01=\]̂_̀a5b0a1̀X=c[4dZe[fg441̀5h40dij?JHW/01k=67=345=:;:<=6896;9l8=m;8;;nAWêZ11]1of4015Z45h[4agh4ZDpqrHMJWst̂Z11]1o=u:6<7<vw=xyz;;;v8={01]1o=x|̂Z}=~d 1̀gd 1̀5=;6;ml<7mv6�=�:7�=\5̀^̂Z=/Za][=�g������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ ¡��������������¢£¤¥¥¥¦§�����������������̈�©��ª�����������«��¬����¤�������YZ[01=\]̂_̀a5b0a1̀®]5Ẑ=\]o1[=̄=°aZeb]4[±̀ ^̂²³̀ 5́µ=7;vm8v6m8:¶:
16

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	�������������������������   ���!����"��#$�%�&'��('���� � )��)����*
�����$$��+�����,(-.�����#/0123452672678978::2;<;= >?@ABCDEFGHIEJKFLMNKOPQPRSIIETUSFLEFNEPKLLEL >VSWXYZ11[1\]4015Z45̂_4̀â4ZbHc@ENGWdef>ghYZ11[1\>i;6=7=:j>klm<<<:n>o01[1\>kpYZq>rse1ase15><6<t9=7t:6u>v;7u>w5eYYZ>/Z̀[_>daxyKGEW/01z>67>345>;<;=>678978=:>t<n<<{ISBW|}[s>~̀ee1|>��[s]�e15�̀eYZ1â4Z��>de\Z̀a_>�>}[s>~̀ee12>2>t7<:̂7<=̂=n9<t31>345>67z>;<;=z>Z5>:8:7>h/z>}e11p>/Z4�0�\ZYY>�[Z>d�>�XYZ11[1\]4015Z45̂_4̀â4Z�>q̀05ef>t>�[ae>��05ea>5e�5>��0>q�0s>5�[_>sZp>4014è1�2r_>Z>YZ1a0q1è>[1>5�e>w�d�z>�>Zs>q̀[5[1\>5�[_>e�sZ[Y>[12_�XX0̀5>0�>5�e>�01[1\>�pYZq>Zse1ase15>klm<<<:n>X̀0X0_ea>�0̀>1eq>6�;>Z4̀e>Y05_>[1�0X�[1_>mZ1a[1\̂>22}e11p>/Z4�0�\ZYY
17

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Cross-Out

Alana.Wittman
Cross-Out



����������	
��
��������������	���
�������������������������	
������� !"###��$������ %��&�'(��)(����#�#*���*��+�,
�+��������-�����.)/0�����%123456748948:;:<;=>4?@?= ABCDEDFGHIJCGDDFKBCDEDGHIJCGDDLMHCNOPJQRHNSFTFUPRVDCFRWDOCDX AYIGZDRC[\]̂33_3̀Aa?8=9=bcAdef@@@bgAh23_3̀Adi]̂jAklm3nlm37A@8@o:=9ob8>Ap?9>Aq7m]]̂A1 r̂_sAtnuUH[vw]̂33_3̀x6237̂67ys6rny6̂vAzw]̂33_3̀x6237̂67ys6rny6̂{|WHN[vs7m}mA~2�]7~mmvAzs7m}m~2�]7~mmx�27l _̂]y62l{�OCD[123�A89A567A?@?=A??;:<;?gA�@@@@�_�ksÂA]̂3n2j3mrÂ3nArms_nm37A_3A7�mAq�t�A�A7�_3�A_7�sA_lw2r7̂37A72A6rm̂7mAl2rmAwr2wmr7_msA72A�m]wAj_7�A7�mA_36rmn_~]mA�2�s_3̀As�2r7̂ m̀yA�ÂlA_3As�ww2r7A2�7�mA�23_3̀A~i]̂jÂlm3nlm37Ade@@@bgAwr2w2smnA�2rA8�?Â6rmA]27sA_3A�2w�_3sA]̂3n_3̀ydms7Arm̀ r̂ns�q7m}mAd2�]7~mm�̂ ]�l223Ad̂iAd�9@byg?>y99>:
18

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



���������	
������������������� ��������� !"#�"$#%� &�#"#�"$#%�'()*""+,"-. / 0�,%�1 ,2�)1�3 �42"-567898:��:�;�<��=<>86�?9<�<��=<>8@ABC��D��EFG)1�5
��H����������������������I�����JKLMN0"56OPQR8�C:BS8�T<@<�SUD�B6�?OPQR8�C:BS8�T<@<�SUD�BF!VWX�,15;MYZ�[PQR8��\:BS8�T]�̂S8��:��<PQE8<<8���S:TBSU8�T�BRBSE8�T�_ÀaB=�bE:�UE:���c��D��J_da���ecNfghfijhklmnofphqrshturthvhwrqhxptuhqupyz{|hr}|hr~r��{|hwu{}hvhqrwhtu{h}pt�y{hp�htu{hrxp�{hxs�~rwhr�{}|�{}thwp�~|hx{hr}h�}|{�qtrt{�{}t�fphtupq{hp�hsp�hrthtu{hklmnhwuphur�{h}pths{th��q�t{|htu{hq�t{h�}�p~�{|�h~{th�{h{��~r�}hwush�h�}h�shp��}�p}h�hr�{}|�}�htu�qh�s�~rwhw�~~hy�{rt{hr}{�t�{�{~sh|r}�{�p�qht�r���yhq�t�rt�p}hr}|h|�qrqt�p�qh{}���p}�{}tr~h{��{ytq�hh�p�h��qth�}|{�qtr}|hturthtu{hp����}r~h�pr|hwrqhy�{rt{|hrqhrhqup�th�����������������hn�{htphtu{h�p�}�}�hrh�{whs{r�qhr�php�hxptuh�r�tqhp�hkt�h�}|�{wqhmpr|�h�th�qh}pwhrh}r��pw�hw�}|�}�h���r~h�pr|hw�tuoh��������������� ¡��������¢�����£¤¢¥¤��¤¢¦�n�{htph�r��p�qhr}|h}��{�p�qhq~p�{qh�}htu{h�pr|�h¢¥�������¤����¢¤���§�¢����¥������¤��£¤�¢��h}pthp}~shx{yr�q{hp�htu{ḧ©�|{��{{ht��}qhx�thr~qpx{yr�q{h�th�qhr}hryy{�t{|h�rythturthtu�qhr�{rh�{tqh�p�{hq}pwhtur}h�pqth�}htu{hr�{rh|�{htph�tqh�{p��r�us�h��{�hw�}|qhqw{{��}�h|pw}h��p�hªu�qt~{���~qp�h�}htu{h��««���¤¢�¤�������������������h|�{htpht�{{qhr}|h�}|{���pwtuhr~p}�q�|{htu{h�pr|hwu�yuhw�~~hx{htu{hp}~sh{}t�shwrsh�}tphtu{h~r}|hyp�{�{|xshtu�qhr�{}|�{}t�h�}|hvhp��{�htu{hklmnhtu{q{h}{whr~r���}�hyr~y�~rt�p}qhwu�yuhvhup�{hw�~~hr��{ythtu{h��}r~h|{y�q�p}hp}htu�qhr�{}|�{}t�fu�qh}r��pw�h���r~h�pr|h�}|{�h|�qy�qq�p}h�qh¬¦¬�«h~p}��h®vthurqh̄h}r�{q�hx�th�qhp}~shp}{h�pr|h�p�}{|htp�{tu{��h�tqh}p�tuhr}|hqp�tuh{}|qhxptuh{��t�}�p}h°p�tuhmpr|±�hfurth�{r}qo hhhhhhhh�²��³������́µ́ �¶�·̧¹�«�¢����¢¥����¤�������������� ¡���������������p}htu�qh�pr|hturth�{º���{hyp}qtr}th����~r}y{hxsh|���{�q�vhr�hyp}��}y{|h}p�p}{hwuph|���{qhtu�qh�pr|h�{��~r�~shwp�~|hyp}t{��~rt{hr||�}�hrh�pqq�x~{h»©©�̄©©hyr�h�p��}{sqhrh|rshtph�t�hwu�yuh�qh�sh{qt��rt{p�hwurthtu�qh�{¼p}�}�hw�~~hy�{rt{h���¥���§�hi{�{hr�{hqp�{h�pqq�x~{hqy{}r��pqh�p�htu{hklmnhtphyp}q�|{�o½hk{�{}t{{}h~ptqh¼p}{|hm»h¾h̄¿hup�{qh¾hw�~~hy�{rt{h̄¿hup�q{up~|q�hqp�{hp�hwu�yuhr�{hr~~pw{|h�}hm»htphx{h|{q��}rt{|hÀyr�{hup�{qÀ�½̄¿hup�{qh�hw�~~h�{r}h��pxrx~shÁÂhyr�qhr||{|htphtu{hr�{r�h�p�{h��htu{�{hr�{ht{{}qh�}h�r��~�{qhwu{}htu{�{h���uthx{h̄�¿hyr�qh�{�hup�q{up~|�hfu{hr|�~tqwp�~|h~�z{~sh|���{h�}Ãp�thtw�y{hrh|rsh�p�hwp�z�h�~�qhqp�{h|����}�h�}htu{htu{h{�{}�}�htphq�p�tq�hqup���}��h{ty�hª{{z{}|ht���qhwp�~|h��pxrx~shx{yp��r�rx~{hrqh�{p�~{hqup��h��q�th���{}|q�h�php�thtph{rt�h�phtphq�p�tqh��ryt�y{q�h�p~��}��hqpy�r~hy~�xq�h{ty�½hfu{ht{{}qhwp�~|h|���{hq���~r�h�p��}{sqh}ph|p�xtohqyupp~�hq�p�tqhr}|hptu{�h��ryt�y{q�hqpy�r~h~��{q�hqup���}��h½fu{hyr�{hup�{qhwp�~|h�}�p~�{h�{�ur�qh{�{}h�p�{hyr�h�p��}{sqhw�tuhwp�z{�qhyp��}�hr}|h�p�}�hp}{h{ryuhwrsh{�{�sh|rs�hqpy�r~hwp�z{�qhr}|hptu{�q���p�thwp�z{�qhwp�~|hx{ht�r�{~�}�htu{hqup�t�h}r��pw�h���r~h�pr|h�{��~r�~shrqhw{~~�vhr||htu�qh��htp�h�}h�shyp}q�|{�{|hp��}�p}�h��³��§�¢����¥������·¡¡�Ä¡¡����¤¢¤���������Å�����§��Æ�����§����¢¥¤��¬¦¬������£Ç�£¤��¤��Ç�����������£¤¢¥�È����É�¤¢������«¤��� ¡��������¢��������¤¢¦hªuphwp�~|hwr}thtph|���{htu�qh�pr|Êhv}hw�}t{�Êhªuphwp�~|hwr}thtphwr~zhtu�qh�pr|h�hq���{�p�hw�}t{�Êhªuphwp�~|hwr}thtu{��hyu�~|�{}htphwr~zhtu�qh�pr|h�}hq���{��hp�htphtu{hqyupp~hx�qhp�h~pyr~hx�qh�}hw�}t{�Êhª{hw�~~hx{ht�r��{|h�}hp��hup�{qxsht�r���yh�r}sht��{qhp�htu{h|rshr}|hp��h�pr|qhw�~~hx{h�}wr~zrx~{h�hwr~z�}�hp��hx{r�t���~hr�{rhu{~�qhz{{�h�qhr~~hu{r~tus�hª{hw�~~hx{h|{}�{|hu{r~tuËvhur�{hup�{|h�p�hrh~p}�ht��{hturthtu{hr�{rh�}�p~�{|hwp�~|hx{h|{�{~p�{|h�p�h�r}sh�{rqp}qhx�thp}~sh�p�h�{�ur�qh{��uthq�}�~{h�r��~shup�{q�hvhwp}|{�wushtu{hklmnhwr}tqhtph|{qt�pshtu{hqr�{tshr}|htu{hº�r~�tshp�hp��h{}���p}�{}thp}htu{hk�}qu�}{hlprqth�qh�r�p�qh�p��hr}|hp}{hw{hqup�~|hx{t�{rq���}�Êhhªusht��}htu�qhr�{rh�}tphrh|r}�{�p�q�h{}���p}�{}tr~~shr}|h~��{�tu�{rt{}�}�hur¼r�|Êvhur�{h}pthw��tt{}h�{�r�|�}�htu{h�pqq�x~{h{}���p}�{}tr~h|r�r�{hyr�q{|htphtu{h¤«Æ��¢��¢����«�������¤��ÌÍ²ÎÏÍÌ́ �Ð�́ Ñ́hwu�yuhrx�tqhtu{�{¼p}{hr�{r�hx�thw�~~h|ph�}h��t��{�hvhw�~~hr~qphx{hrqz�}�h�p�hyp��{qhp�hr~~h|py��{}tqÃyp��{q�p}|{}y{h�}htu{hklmnhp}htu�qh�qq�{�hwu�yuhvh�}|{�qtr}|h�q�sh���uthtph|phqp�fur}zhsp�h�p�hyp}q�|{��}�h�shq�x��qq�p}�vhup�{htu{hklmnhw�~~h�}htu{h�{�sh}{r�h��t��{hrxr}|p}htu�qh�{�s�h�{�shqyr�shr}|h|r}�{�p�qhr�{}|�{}t�h�}|hturthÒpf�hw�~~h}pthr~~pwhq�yuhrup��{}|p�qhr}|h|r}�{�p�qht�r���yÃ{}���p}�{}tr~hq�t�rt�p}htphpyy���19

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



�������������	
�	�
��
20



����������	
�����������������	������������������������� �!"��!##$"#%����������&�������'�����������( #����)���*�����+� ���,-./�&�!'��0'���

12�3,4/����5*�����-6789:;<9=>9?@ABCA?B9D?DB EFGHGIJJIKLMNJMONPGKQHNMNJMONPGRSTUMMVWMXYKZK[GWPI\KW]IT\Î E[M_̀a7bcd;e8fgdhijkj;glm;f̀Ena7bcd;e8fgdhijkj;glm;fop]MX_̀qdrd8hh8Estjhtujvd̀Enrjtjhtujvdkwfettm;txoyT\I_678zE=>E:;<ED?DBE=CAB{A|>E}????E~�6��L���IW\_���:�6��6E��������E<tEstjhtujvdEj7bxdjjdthE<tEs���E�7bcd;E�8fgdhiE�8�E�w��fuE�x8hlx8h<E>DDmCE~���???|>����������������� ¡¢£¤¥�¦§�̈©§�̈ª�«¬¬®�̄ °£±±±²«³́��µ¤¶©·̈µ�ª̧��¹º»¼�½ª�©¤̈µ�¶¾º¹�¤̈©�¤¿¤¶§·̈µ�¶�À¾̈·̈µ�Á¶¾Á¾¹¤¿�¥̧·½̧�½¾º¿©�·̈½¶�¤¹��ª̧��ª¶¤ÂÂ·½�»¡�¬±±�ª¾�Ã±±��Äª¶¤�½¤¶�¼¾º¶̈�¡¹�Á�¶�©¤¡�¤¿¾̈µ�¾º¶ÅÆ���ÇÈ�ÇÉÅ�ÉÅÊÈ�ËË�Ì��Í�ÆÎ�¶¾¤©�¥·ª̧�Ï�Í��Ð±¢©�µ¶���½¾¶̈�¶¹È�¾̈���Ñ�¶¡�¬«Ò�§�ª¶�¹́Ó��ÔÕÖÕ�×ÖÕ�Å��ØÙÚÕÛ×ÜÝØ�×ÞÚ�Å���ØÔßàÜÚÕÖØ�ßÞ�áÔÙØ�Öß×ÚâÓ�ÉÞ�ØßãÕ�ä×ÖáØ�ßå�áÔÕ�Þ×ÖÖßÛ�Öß×Ú�áÔÕÖÕ�ÙØ�×ÜãßØá�Å��Øä×æÕ�çÕáÛÕÕÞ�áÔÕ�Öß×Ú�×ÞÚ�Ú×ÞèÕÖßàØ�×ÞÚ�áÖÕ×æÔÕÖßàØ�ÕéáÖÕãÕÜê�ØáÕÕä�æÜÙååØâ�É�Ô×ëÕÞßá�ãÕ×ØàÖÕÚ�Õé×æá�ÙÞæÔÕØ�çàá�áÔÕ�æÜÙååØ�çÕèÙÞ�×ÜãßØá�ÚÙÖÕæáÜê�×á�áÔÕ�ÕÚèÕ�ßå�áÔÕ�Öß×Úâ¦¿¿¾¥·̈µ�ª̧·¹�¶�À¾̈��ª¾�¾½½º¶�¥¾º¿©�»��¤�¿·Â�¢ª̧¶�¤ª�̈·̈µ�¤½ª�¾Â�º̈½¤¶·̈µ�¤̈©�½¤¿¿¾º¹̈�¹¹�ª¾¥¤¶©¹�ª̧��Ñ�¶¡�¿¾¡¤¿�ìí�î�½·ª·À�̈¹�¥̧¾�¤¿¶�¤©¡�¿·Ñ��̧¶��ÆÅ��ÆÎ���Â¾¶�ª̧��̈�¥�·̧̈ ¤»·ª¤̈ª¹�ª̧¤ª�¥¾º¿©�¿·Ñ��·̈�ª̧��Á¾¹¹·»¿��̈�¥�¶�À¾̈�
21

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	����
������������������������������� ��!"�#�$%��&%�������'(�'��)�*
)����""��+�����,&-.�����!/012345267289:;8:6<2=8=; >?@ABCDEFBGB?@ABCDEFBHIJKLBME@ANE@AODEFDIJKLPQIJRBSBTIUUKLVIFWKFQKBEWWKW >XYZ[KQ\]̂_̀abbcbd>e=6;<;fg>hij888f7>klbcbd>hm̀an>op1bqp1b5>868rs;<rf69>t=<9>u51̀̀a>vawcx>yqz{I]|}̀abbcbd~4lb5a45�x4wq�4a|>�}̀abbcbd~4lb5a45�x4wq�4a��UIJ]|òc>��ab>�>òc>��ab>�lp1x|>�àc~àc��ab�lp1x�4lp��E\K]/01�>67>345>=8=;>6s:;8:8=>�8888��������������������������������� �������¡�������¢ ��������£¤¤�����¥�����¦����¡�§̈����� ��� ����©ª«¬¬¬®�¤��¤�����¥�����̄��°������������¤±����«�����¡²³���±�����òc>��ab2_1wxlbà>y1à>́x5a51>µlw}lwa5clbylmà>j1_ad1>u0xx1¶µ1̀̀·><8fr7f6r9ff=nnn�òc��ab�lp1x�4lp2
22

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	�����������������������������	
���� �!"#��� �$������!%��&�'�()��*)�������+���+ ��
����������,�����-��*.�����%/0123452672879669:72;8;< =>?@ABCD?EFG?AHICJ?EFG?K?@LMINGOPCQIRASATGCJ?UACV?NU?W =TQXYZ[\\]\̂_4̀\5[45ab4cda4[eVQIXfg1h=i4j1\k]1f=lm4n1\k]1o1h_ m̂[]Za4̀mpqNU?X/01r=67=345=;8;<=8798<9st=u8788vwKx?CUXyZ[\\]\̂=z;6<{<:=g|}888:7=~̀\]\̂=g�Z[�=�=�m1\dm1\5=868us<{u:6�;{�=�51ZZ[=i[c]b=�̀[d2�b=[=c1b]d1\5=�]5�]\=5�1=����=a=�=[m=�c]5]\̂=5�]b=1m[]Z=]\=b0YỲc5=̀�=5�1=k̀\]\̂=[m1\dm1\5=g|888:7=Yc̀Ỳb1d=�̀c=[=\0mo1c=̀�=\1�=6�;=[4c1=Z̀5b=]\=5�1�̀ Yn]\b=}[\d]\̂=[c1[a2=�1=[c1=40cc1\5Z�=Z̀̀ n]\̂=[5=Yc̀Y1c5�=�[\5]\̂=5̀=o1=4Z̀b1c=5̀=5�1=�1cc�=�[h]\̂=Z]h1d=5�1=Y[b5=;8=�1[cb=�0c5�1c=0Y=5�1=�0\b�]\1�̀ [b5a2=�1=Z̀h1=5�]b=\1]̂�òc�̀ d̀r=5�1=b]k1=̀�=5�1=Yc̀Ỳb1d=Z̀5br=[b=�1ZZ=[b=5�1=Yc̀�]m]5�=5̀=5�1=�1cc�a22/�[\n=�̀0=�̀c=4̀\b]d1c]\̂=m�=]\Y05r=[\d=�=�̀Y1=5�[5=�̀0=�]ZZ=5[n1=]5=]\5̀=[44̀0\5=[b=�̀0=d1Z]o1c[51=̀\=5�]b=]mỲc5[\5=m[551cac1̂[cdbg1h1cZ�=i4j1\k]1
23

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	�������������������������   ���!����"��#$�%�&'��('���� � )��)����*
�����$$��+�����,(-.�����#/012345267289:;8:<=2<8<> ?@ABACDEFGHHADEIBCJGKJBLMNOKCMGPQRLCSETEULBBAVWLHNAHRAEMNNAN ?XLYZ[\]]̂]_̀ 4a]5\45bc4deb4\fBLCYgh1d1ij?k̂]]1jg?ldim̂_mda\è _i\̂[b4ainoMpAY/01q?67?345?<8<>?89:r9:>s?t8788uvwxARpYyk[\]]̂]_?z<6>=>r{?|}~888r7?�a]̂]_?|j[\�?�i1]ei1]5?868t;>=tr6s?�<=s?�51[[\?�\d̂c?�e��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� �¡���������������¢�������¢��������������� £������¤�¥������¦�����¦§ �̈©ª�«ª©�¬©©©�®�¢���̄�°����±
24

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	�����������������������������	
�������� !"�����#������ $��%�&'��('��������)�����*+�,���
�*��������-�����,��(.�����$/012345267289:;7:;<2=8=; >?@ABCDEFGCHIGJJKLDMINOEADPQRQSIEFGTQEUGMTGV >WUADXYZ[\]>̂4_1]̀a1Y>bc[\]d4e1]̀a1<<fgdhaij4[dkSAXlih]]a]gf4[]5h45jm4noj4hpqr@GETXsih]]a]g>t=6;9;u>v>wxy888u7>z[]a]g>w{ih|>}d1]od1]5>868v~;9vu6��>�1�>=9�>�51iih>̂hnam>�[ho�MTGX/01�>67>345>=8=;>89:;7:=u>v8788/[>�\[d>a5>dh{>4[]41n]��>hd>|na5a]g>hm>�[5\>h>n1mao1]5>[�>5\1>�0]m\a]1>�[hm5>h]o>hm>h2>ln[�1mma[]hi>�1hi5[n>|\[>am>�1n{>h45a�1>h]o>a]�[i�1o>a]>m1iia]g>h>mag]a�a4h]5>hd[0]5>[�ln[l1n5{>|a5\a]>5\1>����j2>�>hd>�1n{>d04\>a]>m0ll[n5>[�>5\1>̀[]a]g>hd1]od1]5>wxy888u7>ln[l[m1o>�[n>]1|>6�=>h4n1>i[5m>a]>�[lea]m>yh]oa]gj2>�1\h�1>h>m\[n5hg1>[�>�0hia5{>6�=>h4n1>i[5m>a]>h]o>hn[0]o>5\1>�a�m[]m>hn1h>h]o>5\am>|aii>hmmam5>a]>m0lli{a]g>5\1>o1dh]o>�[n>i[5m>4i[m1>5[>5\1>�1nn{j2>/\1n1>amh>m1na[0m>o1dh]o>�[n>6�=>h4n1>i[5m>�n[d>l1[li1>�[5\>[]>h]o>[��>4[hm5j22>/\am>|aii>hmmam5>|a5\>\1ila]g>5[>�aii>5\h5>�[aoj�a]41n1i{�Z[\]>̂4_1]̀a1
25

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
���
�������������	������������������������������������� !"#$%"&'"()*(+*),"-(-. /012342155623789:215562;<=8>?@A6=B3C3D>A91E3AF18E15 /D6GHIJKKLKMN$OK%J$%PQ$RSP$JTF6=GUV!K/WK!SSOKU/XJYQK!SSOKNMZJLIP$OZ[\8E1G� !]/&'/#$%/-(-./()*(+*--/̂('((4_̀a1AEGR!bOKLKMcQ/J/IJKSOdK!R/LK/%e!/Wfgh/i/JZ/dRL%LKM/%eLQ/!ZJLI/LK/Q HHOR%/Oj/%e!/bOKLKM/klIJd/JZ!KSZ!K%mno((()'/HROHOQ!S/jOR/K!d/&p-/J$R!/IO%Q/LK/qOHYLKQ/oJKSLKM�eJKYlO /V!K/WK!SSOK
26

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	����������������������������������������� �����!�����������"�����#$%&'()*'+,'++-./-01'010/ 23456789:;<7=:38>?@;A:BCDEA;F7G7H9I6A;7I5A4;AJ 2HKLM%NOP)Q&RSPTUVWV)SXY)RZ5K3L[\RS]2QPO*̂[2_O\Q1̀W*&O%VYT&*ab4;AL$%&c2+,2()*2010/2++-./-1d2e1,11fBghAI;Li*&OOR2\RSR2M%NOP)2Q&RSPTU2V%N\PVVPjTk&OOjk&S&2RS&2\l2)j\\&T*V2RNj%*2*Q&2i*&OOR2mRSR2S&̂jTPTUY2ml2TR\&2PV2mRS]2kPO*̂2RTX2n2OPo&2R*2p0.2i*&qRS*2rjRXYml2PT*&S&V*2PT2*Q&2V%NXPoPVPjT2RTX2S&̂jTPTU2PV2*Q&2OPoRNPOP*l2RTX2V%V*RPTRNPOP*l2js2*Q&2)j\\%TP*l2PT2qQP)Q2n2OPo&Yn2V%MMjS*2*Q&2r02̂jTPTU2qQP)Q2ROOjqV2\jS&2RssjSXRNO&2Qj%VPTU2jM*PjTVY2t%MO&u&V2RS&2jT&2)jT*SPN%*PjT2*j2*Q&2\PVVPTU2\PXXO&Y2v&V*2kjq&2ij%TX2V&&\V*j2N&2\PVVPTU2*Q&2r02̂jTPTU2PT2P*V2ORTX2PTo&T*jSl2)j\MRS&X2qP*Q2&O&)*jSRO2RS&RV2wctcxYy2)jT)&ST2PV2*QR*2*Q&2MSjMjV&X2Oj*2ORlj%*2V%)Q2RV2V&M*P)2)jo&TRT*2RS&RV2QRV2R2NPRV2*jqRSXV2VPTUO&2sR\POl2Xq&OOPTU2N&PTU2N%POX2&o&T2Ps2*Q&2̂jTPTU2PV2r0Y2yS&oPV&X2ORlj%*2)j%OX2\R]&2X%MO&u2\jS&2s&RVPNO&2RTX2X&VPSRNO&2sjS2M&jMO&2*j2N%POXYi*jS\2qR*&S2RTX2Rz%Ps&S2MSj*&)*PjT2PV2R2VPUTPsP)RT*2)jT)&ST2RTX2*QPV2jT&2X&o&OjM\&T*2PV2jT&2MRS*2PT2*Q&2)%\%OR*Po&2&ss&)*V2js2X&o&OjM\&T*2jT2*Q&qR*&S2S&Vj%S)&Y2$Q&2y{|2QRV2QPUQOPUQ*2qR*&S2PVV%&2V%)Q2RV2\RTRUPTU2}2S&*RPTPTU2MS&)PMP*R*PjT2qP*QPT2Oj*2Nj%TXRSP&VY2$Q&2j%*O&*2*j2*Q&2V*jS\qR*&S2PV2*jN&2*P&X2PT2qP*Q2&uPV*PTU2PTsSRV*S%)*%S&2qQP)Q2T&&XV2RVV&VV\&T*2*j2*Q&2V%P*RNO&2js2PT)S&RV&2sOjqV2~2Tj2XjqTV*S&R\2T&UR*Po&2&ss&)*VY$QRT]2lj%S2sjS2OPV*&TPTU2*j2)j\\&T*Y2mRS]
27

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
����������������	�������������������������������������� !"�#�$%��&%���� '()))�*�����!+,-./01.23.22455456.7675 89:;<=>?@>A:BCD<EFAG?HI:;<=>JE>A:BCD<EFAGK;I=LFJDMIN?O?PLDQ:A?DB:=A:R 8S=A:T+,-U8238/018767582745542V8W6X66YEZ[:DAT\,]]̂_18̀̂_8\abc8defgh8ij-klj-k18dmn666o3PMT]fgkkpkqr0̂k1g01st0_ls0guBMITvw-qxgk8yk1-_t0x,f1zv8{j-qxgks,k1-_t0x,f1zrqjgpfs0̂j|}-ff̂U~8gj8h_p1pkq81xpt8-jgpf8pk8t,]]̂_18̂ 8̀1x-8ẑkpkq.�efgh8gj-klj-k1.dmn666o38]_̂]̂t-l8̀̂_8k-h82�78g0_-8f̂1t8pk8}̂ ]�pkt8ngklpkqs�xpf-8~8gj8k̂180,__-k1fe8g8_-tpl-k18pk81x-8\,ktxpk-8â gt18b-qp̂kgf8cpt1_p01U8h-8g_-80̂k1-j]fg1pkq8g8j �̂-8h-t18gkl8h-8xg�-8t1g_1-l8t0̂,1pkq8̂,1]_̂]-_1p-ts8+x_̂,qx8̀_p-klt8hx̂8fp�-8]g_1�1pj-8pk81x-8g_-gU8h-8h-_-8̀̂_hg_l-l8t̂j-8pk̀ _̂jg1p̂k8g�̂,18g8]̂ttp�f-8ẑkpkq8�efgh8gj-klj-k1.1̂80_-g1-t̂j-8k-h8f̂1t8k-g_81x-8ngkqlgf-8�-__e8+-_jpkgfU8hxp0x8q_-g1fe8pk1-_-t1t.j-8gt8~8-�]-0181̂8xg�-81̂80̂jj,1-8t-�-_gf81pj-t8g8h--�81̂8�gk0̂,�-_8̀̂_ĥ _�s�p1x81xgk�tUw-qxgk8yk1-_t0x,f1z���������������������������������IE>A:BCD<EFAGK;I=LFJDMI?�I=LFAMTIE>A:BCD<EFAGK;I=LFJDMI�?3 6s¡ 5sX7668¢w �̂pf-£
28

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	������������������������������� ����!��"#�$�%&��'&�������()�(����*
�����##��+�����,'-.�����"/012345267289:;<:<;2=8=> ?@A@B@CDEFFG@BHIJKLCJ@MNOA@B@MPEFFG@BQMRMSTKKUIVTBLUBJUM@LLUL ?WKTGXYZ[\]\?̂_55̀\]Y?aZ[\]\b̂_55̀\]cd4efb4\ghTXYi0j[_4?k1\e_]l?m0j̀ _dd_n]dY?op0j[_4q1\e_]lcd4efb4\grstuUJFXv̂ :?wi[\]]_]l?x=6>y>;z?{|}888;7?~n]_]l?{�[\�?Z̀ 1]f̀ 1]5?868�<>y�;6�?�=y�?m51[[\?�\e_d?�f��@FUX/01�?67?345?=8=>?6y:;<:<6?�88882WKTGX?q0dj\]f4n]5e\45_]lcl̀ \_[b4ǹ ?�_\?�/?op[\]]_]lc4n]5\45bd4efb4\grUBFX?�n]f\��?345nj1e?6y�?=8=>?;:;y?i�hTX?Z[\]\?̂_55̀\]?aZ[\]\b̂_55̀\]cd4efb4\grstuUJFX?�1�?wi[\]]_]l?x=6>y>;z?{|}888;7?~n]_]l?{�[\�?Z̀ 1]f̀ 1]5?868�<>y�;6�?�=y�?m51[[\?�\e_d?�f�2/_4�15?��}:?��FFVIX��KF�CIJKLC@L�JTBF@JF�hEJ�UF��EIVA@�C�FGA�EL��������M�FFVIX��KF�CIJKLC@L�JTBF@JF�hEJ�UF��EIVA@�C�FGA�EL���������FFVIX��KF�CIJKLC@L�JTBF@JF�hEJ�UF��EIVA@�C�FGA�EL��������Zd?\?e1d_f1]5�qǹ 1n�]1e?_]?5q1?m���?�?\̀ ?�e_5_]l?5q_d?1̀ \_[?_]?d0ppne5?n ?¡n]_]l?j�[\�?\̀ `1]f̀ 1]5?{|}888;7?penpnd1f? ne?]1�?6�=?\4e1?[n5d?_]knp�_]d?[\]f_]lb2/q\]�d?�_�1?q0dj\]f223]?�n]�?345?6y�?=8=>�?>:;9?pb̀b?¢_̀?£e11]?ouEGH¤UBFsKUA@BLCJ@M�G@EAFTXuEGH¤UBFsKUA@BLCJ@QMg?�en51��?mqn�?¥0n51f?51¦5?§
29

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	���������������������������������� �!��"��#"����$%&'''�(������)*+,-./,01,23456426,7278 9:;<=>?@A@B>C:;<=D?@A@BEFGHIGJKLFMNJ@OPMJDGMAQ>R>S<FTPK>FMP@KPO 9U@KPV)*+W9019-./9727890X4514559Y2222ZN[\PFKV]+̂9_̀abac9defgh9gi+aji+a/9klm222n1SGVopfgaabacq.̀a/g./rs.tjr.go9upfgaabacq.̀a/g./rs.tjr.gvwMGHVoxybf9]gcgao9zxybfr]gcgaq.̀ip̀s/{.t*sgj+tsr̀tcv|̀ j̀9i t̀abac}~9gi9g9t+sbj+a/9gaj9fgaj̀ha+t9̀a9/y+9�*asyba+9�̀ gs/9gaj9~9hga/9/̀9+a.̀*tgc+9/y+9��]�9/̀9f̀̀ �9g/9/y+9�̀abac9defghs9/yg/bip̀s+9t*tgf9ptba.bpf+s9/̀9j+�+f̀pi+a/s9/yg/W9hb/y9ct̀hbac9p̀p*fg/b̀asW9sỳ*fj9d+9i t̀+9gppt̀ptbg/+fe9�̀a+j9�̀t9s*d*tdgat+sbj+a/bgf9gs9/y+9j+igaj9�̀t9g��̀tjgdf+9d*bfjbac9f̀/s9ba.t+gs+sr9,,)̀9/yg/9+ajW9~9h̀ *fj9fb�+9/̀9gjj9ie,s*pp̀t/9/̀9/y+9�̀abac9defgh9gi+aji+a/9klm222n19pt̀p̀s+j9�̀t90�79g.t+9f̀/s9ba9�̀ p�basmgajbacr�ba.+t+feWxybf9]gcga0209�910209�g�bagh9�`̀js9�tr|gtj+a9kgeW9k�9�2�90�0:;<=D?@A@BE�GHIGJKL�MNJ@OPMJDGMA>�H@<=KGV:;<=D?@A@BE�GHIGJKL�MNJ@OPMJDGMA�Y09X2n98789n1n8,�NK=GGT>�GM><�Z>�;KKIJV��@T@DHJ�G�NTP��
30

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	������������������������������	
��������� !!!��"�������#��$�%&��'&����!�!()��(��*�+
�*��������,�����-'./�����#012345637839:;99;<=3<9<> ?@ABCDDEFBGHIJKLMNBEOCPMQRSRTBCDFURCAFNUFV ?WXYZFCU[\]̂__̀_a?b<7>:>c7?def999c8?gh_̀_a?di]̂j?kl2_ml2_6?979no>:nc7=?p<:=?q62]]̂?r ŝ̀t?umvwNUF[012x?78?456?<9<>?98;99;7c?n9:99yAPM[zù5{̂sm?|]2̀_z?}s̀5~~]2̀_o=7�al^̀]�5hl�TP[�]̂__̀_a�5h_6̂56�t5sm�5̂kt?̂?]̂_mhj_2s?̀_?6{2?q�u�?�?̂l?js̀6̀_a?6{̀t?2l^̀]?̀_?t1��hs6?h�?6{2?gh_̀_a?di]̂j?kl2_ml2_6?def999c8?�sh�ht2m?�hs?_2j?7�<?̂5s2?]h6t?̀_?�h�~̀_tf̂_m̀_a�u2âsmtx3ù5~?|]2̀_
31

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	������������������������������ ����!��"#�$�%&��'&�������(��(��)�*
)����##��+�����,'-.�����"/01234526726689:8;;29<9= >?@AABCDEFGHHBCEIJKC@AJGHHBCLMNOJKGHPQ@JRESET@CCBUV@WXBWQBEKXXBX >Y@Z[\]̂ _̂̀̂ a4b̂5]45cd4efc4]gC@JZhibjj1e5>k_\\1eh>lm]ebjm_\\1e:na m̀]_\c4bmopKDBZ/01q>67>345>9<9=>6689:867>r<7<<stAuBQDZvwfx>yz\]̂ _̂̀̂ >{96=n=;|>}~�<<<;7>�b̂ _̂̀ >}�\]w>�m1̂fm1̂5><6<r:=nr;6�>�9n�>�51\\]>k]e_d>if��1̂5>�ebm>m�>_z�b̂1r>�_f1>�0b51f>51�5>�r>�_f1>�0b51f>51�5>��UEKE�CBUGXBWDEKWX�@CEHKWX@�WBC�EGWED�BEsT?pE�EKJE�CGDGWOED�GUEB�JKGHEGW�UtVV@CDE@�ED�BE�@WGWOEA�HK�EKJBWXJBWDE��������EVC@V@UBX�@CEWB�E�� EKQCBEH@DUEGWE¡@V¢GWUE�KWXGWOPE�£1>�11\>5�_d>_d>0è1̂5\�>̂11f1f>f01>5b>5�1>�b0d_̂̀ >d�be5]̀1cibj>]̂f>k]e_]̂ 1̂>k_\\1enn<9>¤]\1>�¥1>¦be5�n<;>=§§>��6=r>�_f1>�0b51f>51�5>�
32

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	����������������������������������� ��!"�#�$%��&%�������'(�'��)�*
)����""��+�����,&-.�����!/01234526726689:8::2:9:; <=>??@A>BC?DE@FB>??GHIJCK>?LMCJN@O@PQBBC?RQMSCMTC@USSCS <V>WXCTJYZ[\]̂ _̂̀̂ <a:6;b;cd<efg999c7<hî _̂̀ <ej\]k<lm1̂nm1̂5<969op;boc6q<r:bq<s51\\]<t]u_v<wnxyUJCY/01z<67<345<:9:;<6689:89q<o9799{BQ|Y}w0vv<~0u1v�_}<�u0vv���51\0v�̂15��QY�\]̂ _̂̀̂ �4î5]45�v4un�4]/i<��im<_5<t]j<�î41ûzlv<]<�u1v_n1̂5<]̂n�iu<\]̂nik̂ 1ux<_̂<5�1<s�w�<�<]m<ku_5_̂̀ <5�_v<1�m]_\<_̂2v0��iu5<i�<5�1<�î _̂̀ <�j\]k<]m1̂nm1̂5<efg999c7<�ui�iv1n�iu<̂1k<6�:<]4u1<\i5v<_̂<�i��_̂v<g]̂n_̂̀ ���11uvzw0vv<~0u1v�_b�;<�iu\155<wi]n�_�vîv<e�<�9�<6��
33

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
�����������������	����������������������������������� ��!"�#�$%��&%�������'(�'����)
�����""��*�����+&,-�����!./012341561557897:;1<;<9 =>?@ABCDAEA@CFG?@ABH@AEA@IJKLM@NOPKQCRCSPBBATUPVWAVOACLWWAW =>PXYZ[\\]\̂_3̀\4[34ab3cda3[eBPKXf.gZ0c=h0i0Zf=j4gZ0ckZ0i0Z_ l̂[]Za3̀lmnLGAX./0o=56=234=<;<9=5578979:=p;6;;qrEsAOGXtuZ[\\]\̂=v<59w98x=yzh;;;86={̀\]\̂=ygZ[|=}l0\dl0\4=;5;p:9wp85~=�<w~=�40ZZ[=�[c]b=�d��̀ d̀=l c̀\]\̂a=}b=[=�0b]d0\4=̀�=4�0=Z̀|0c=b/\b�]\0=3̀[b4a=�=i0Z]0�0=|0=\00d=l c̀0=b/id]�]b]̀\b=4̀=�0ZY=|]4�=̀/c=b�̀c4[̂0=̀�=�̀/b]\̂a=�=b/YỲc4=4�0Y0cỲb0d=�̀\]\̂=igZ[|=[l0\dl0\4=yzh;;;86a=.�]b=|̀ /Zd=i0=[=̂c0[4=Z̀3[4]̀\=4̀=[dd=b̀l0=Yc̀Y0c4]0ba1y0b41�0̂[cdbo=.gZ0c=h0i0Z1
34

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



����������	
���
�������������	��������������������������������������� ���������!"#�$���� �%&��'�	

(#�)�
#"��������*��������+�,����-�)�.������'�����+������&/01234526726898:9;;28<8; =>?@ABBCDCEFGHIEFA@C?JEKLMLNA?OPQL?RPFQPS =NJTU0VWX4YZ[\X1]̂_ 4̂\̀a4[bFQPT/01c=67=345=8<8;=6898:96d=e<f<<gRJET4WXhhaVai[Y_]i[XWa4jikklmnopq=rstnm=uVZ1i[Y_ 4̀41Z5a4jivwxDyP?QT/z{|=}0VWX4=tZ[\X1]=/Z45Xj1=~:�=�j1X1]=o�W[�=�f88a�=e=8�:=/5ZWW[=r[\X̂={j[̀=s\Z[=�=e=�Ẑ5=tj�Z=/j01̀}W[11X1]=|ZU[\5iZ15/01̂YX1Z=zj[̂5={Z]Xj1[W=|X̂5\X456df7=�XZẀ={j[̀c=/Z4YZW5c=oz=�f�=<s:2|Z[\2=/X\̂�2�=[i=�\X5X1]=j1=VZY[Wh=jh=j0\=h[iXW�=[1̀=i�=U[\Z15̂=̂UZ4XhX4[WW�c=�Yj=\ẐX̀Z=j1=�6;<�=/5a=s1̀\Z�̂ ={j[̀=X1=�XV̂j1̂c=oz=[̀�[4Z15=5j=5YZ=[Vj�Z=\ZhZ\Z14ZU\jUĵ[W=5j=4Y[1]Z=�j1X1]=h\ji={�6=5j={8=[1̀=5YZ=/0V̀X�X̂Xj1=|X̂5\X45=h\ji=���=5j=�z�a2�X�Z1=5YZ=�0[WX5�=jh=5YZ=1ZX]YVj\Yjj̀c=5YZ=�[W0Z=jh=5YZ=YjiẐ=[1̀=5YZ=40\\Z15=Wj5=̂X�Ẑ=jh=5YZ=U\jUZ\5XẐ=[̀�[4Z15=5j=5YZ=[Vj�Z=\ZhZ\Z14Z̀ =̂X5Zc=�ZẐZ�=4j1hX\i[5Xj1=j1=5YZ=UjX15̂=VZWj��2 ��=NGPLEA�AExEL�FR?P@L�A�P=�GF@@LDPL��L��ww=5Y[1=5YZ=40\\Z15=Wj5=̂X�Z=j1=/5a=s1̀\Z�̂ =[1̀=�X̂5[=��j\̀a=2w�P?ABA?F@@�LQGPL@JQL�A�P�L�GJx@SLDP?J��A�QP�QL�AQGLQGPL@JQL�A�PLJBLQGPLGJEP�L�� ¡¢M��£� LJ�LwQCL¤�SRP��L¥JFS=¦qj5Z=[WW=5YZ=Wj5=̂X�Ẑ=j1=�X̂5[=��j\̀=h[4X1]=/5a=s1̀\Z�̂ =[\Z=[Ŵj=jhX̂iXW[\=̂X�Z§a2�̈=NGPLSP��AQ�LJBLF��L�P�LGJEP�LV0XW5=j1=5YZ=U\jUĵZ̀=\Z©�j1Z̀ =̂X5Z=�GF@@LDPL�A�I@PLBFEA@�LS�P@@A�ILJ�@�ªLF�SLQGPL�A�PLJBLQGPL�RJ�J�PSLGJEP��GF@@LDPL?J��A�QP�QL�AQGLF�SLDxA@QLA�LF??JRSF�?PLQJLQGPL�F�QL�J�A�IL@F��LQGFQLIJ«PR�LF@@LQGPL?xRRP�QLGJEP�=J�LwQCL¤�SRP��LF�SL¬A�QFLgyJRSQGFQLLRPBPRP�?PLFDJ«Pa®�=̄YZ=X15Z]\X5�=jh=5YZ=1ZX]YVj\Yjj̀=i0̂5=VZ=i[X15[X1Z̀=[1̀=0UYZẀa2ŝ=i�=U[\Z15̂=[\Z=̂Z1Xj\̂c=UWZ[̂Z=4j1hX\i=[WW=\ẐUj1̂Ẑ=̀X\Z45W�=5j=i�̂ZWha=�=5jj=[i=[=40\\Z15=j�1Z\=j1=/5a=s1̀\Z�̂ ={j[̀=hj\=5YZ=\Z4j\̀a2̄Y[1�X1]=�j0=X1=[̀�[14Za22{Z][\̀ ĉ2zWXhh=r[Yzor=�1�Ẑ5iZ15̂c=�14a~6�e7�:e:;f~zWXhhaVai[Y_]i[XWa4ji2
35

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle

Alana.Wittman
Rectangle



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Electoral Area Services Committee – January 18, 2024 

AUTHOR: Devin Rajala, Planning Technician II 

SUBJECT: Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) - 
Electoral Area F 

RECOMMENDATION 

(1) THAT the report titled Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview
Road) - Electoral Area F be received;

(2) AND THAT Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) be
issued to vary Zoning Bylaw No. 722 as follows:

(a) Section 5.14.1 (a) to reduce the setback for a structure adjacent to a highway or
an internal private road from 5 m to 0 m for the construction of single-family
residence.

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received a Development Variance Permit application (DVP00090) for the property at 
1504 Tideview Road in Electoral Area F to reduce the setback for structures from a highway or 
internal private road. This application seeks to permit the construction of a new single-family 
residence on the property.  

The purpose of this report is to present this application to the Electoral Area Services Committee 
for consideration and decision.   

DISCUSSION 

Analysis 

The property at 1504 Tideview Road is 394.17 m2. It is zoned R1 and bordered by other R1 
properties and the ocean to the northeast. Zoning Bylaw No. 722 contains the following regulation: 

5.14.1 The setback of building or structure shall be: a) a minimum of 5 m from any portion 
of a parcel line adjacent to a highway or an internal private road; 

It is also noted that MOTI has a 4.5 m setback to a property line fronting a highway (front parcel 
line), therefore if this Development Variance Permit is approved, the applicant will also require a 
setback permit from MOTI. 

The entirety of the subject parcel is located within the Coastal Slopes Development Permit Area; 
therefore a development permit will also be required for the construction of the single-family 
dwelling. 

Table 1 below provides a summary of the application. 

ANNEX B

36



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) Electoral 
Area F Page 2 of 7 
 

Table 1 – Application Summary 

Applicant: Scott Keck 

Legal Description: LOT 8 BLOCK C OF BLOCK 13 DISTRICT LOT 1400 PLAN 4697 

PID: 011-383-593 

Electoral Area: Area F 

Civic Address: 1504 Tideview Road, Gibsons, BC 

Zoning: R1 (Residential One) 

OCP Land Use: Residential  

Proposed Use: To permit the construction of a single-family dwelling. 
. 

 
Figure 1 - Location Map 

 
 

 

37



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) Electoral 
Area F Page 3 of 7 
 

 
 
Figure 2: Aerial Photo 
 

 
Figure 3: Proposed Development subject to Variance 

Consultation 

The development variance permit application has been referred to the following agencies for 
comment: 

Referral Agency Comments 

SCRD Building Division • BP required to construct the dwelling and parking area 
upon approval of the DVP.  

38



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) Electoral 
Area F Page 4 of 7 
 

• It is difficult to confirm whether the proposed building 
will meet all applicable BCBC requirements based on 
the limited information provided. 

• Building Division has not received a BP application. 

Squamish Nation 

SN's Archaeology Specialist commented that the parcel is 
<100m from a recorded archaeological site and is in a 
high potential area along the waterline.  
 
An archaeological assessment is required in advance of 
any ground disturbing activities. 

Gibsons & District Volunteer Fire 
Department 

Construction fire safety plan should be developed. Fire 
department vehicles shall have direct access to at least 
one face of every building by means of a street, yard or 
roadway in conformance with the British Columbia 
Building Code. 

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure 
(MOTI) A setback permit is required.  

Neighbouring Property Owners/Occupiers 

Notifications were mailed on December 20, 2023 to 
owners and occupiers of properties within a 50 m radius 
of the subject property. Comments received prior to the 
report review deadline are attached for EAS 
consideration.  

Notifications to surrounding properties were completed in accordance with Section 499 of the 
Local Government Act and the Sunshine Coast Regional District Bylaw No. 522. Comments 
received prior to the report review deadline are attached. Those who consider their interests 
affected may attend the Electoral Area Services Committee meeting and speak at the call of the 
Chair.  

The applicant is responsible for ensuring all work undertaken complies with the Heritage 
Conservation Act. 

Applicant’s Rationale & Planning Analysis 

Staff have evaluated this application using SCRD Board Policy 13-6410-6 (Development Variance 
Permits) as criteria as follows:  

1. The variance should not defeat the intent of the bylaw standard or significantly depart from 
the planning principle or objective intended by the bylaw;  

  
2. The variance should not negatively affect adjacent or nearby properties or public lands;  
 
3. The variance should not be considered a precedent, but should be considered as a unique 

solution to a unique situation or set of circumstances;    
 
4. The proposed variance represents the best solution for the proposed development after all 

other options have been considered; and   
 
5. The variance should not negatively affect the natural site characteristics or environmental 

qualities of the property.  
 

39



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) Electoral 
Area F Page 5 of 7 
 

The applicant’s response to these criteria and staff analysis related to the proposal are below.   
 
 
Applicant Rationale 

• Due to the extreme slope of the site, consulting engineers have advised to keep the building 
as close to the road as possible. (Which is within the 5m front setback) to tie the building 
back into stronger soil.  
 

• Given, the proposed development is effectively a driveway with the structure below road 
level, and because driveways are typically allowed outside of the setbacks, we feel that 
the proposed dwelling is in keeping with bylaw’s intent to ensure the safety of a structure 
from vehicular traffic while also meeting the challenge of the site’s steep terrain.  
 

• Since the upper level is effectively a driveway, the proposed dwelling results in the view 
from the street being effectively the same as a proposal that does not encroach within the 
5m front yard setback.  
 

• This approach should not adversely affect adjacent or nearby properties or public lands 
and will create a significantly smaller footprint on the site itself.   
 

• The buildable area for the lot is limited and was furthered reduced when the ocean setback 
was increased from 7.5m to 15m under Zoning Bylaw No. 722. 
 

• By burying the lower levels into the ground below the parking, the building doesn’t project 
out into the site as far, preserving environmental qualities on the property. 

Staff Comment  
 
Staff provide the following comments on the proposed variances and applicant’s rationale: 
 
• The reduction of the front parcel line setback from 5.0m to 0m, given the topography of the 

site, which conceals the structure from the highway, and the nature of the structure, does 
not create any safety concerns and only has a limited visual impact.  
 

• Given that the variance application is to vary a road setback distance and not a side parcel 
variance, the effects should be minor on adjacent lots. 

 
• MOTI setback permit decision should address sufficiency of the present highway right-of-

way to contain planned road improvements and compatibility of a reduced setback with the 
Ministry's transportation objectives. 

 
• As the applicant explained, the top of the structure will be leveled with the ground and act 

as a driveway.  
 
• Given the lot’s smaller size and challenging topography, staff support the proposed 

variance, which provides a design solution for a lot with limited buildable area. 
 

• By burying the lower levels into the ground below the parking, the building doesn’t project 
out into the site as far, providing distance from the natural boundary of the ocean.  

40



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) Electoral 
Area F Page 6 of 7 
 

Staff are supportive of the requested variance as it enables the construction of a single-family 
residence on a small lot with challenging topography; and provides a buffer distance from the 
natural boundary of the ocean, while meeting geotechnical recommendations. Given the 
comments provided by the Gibsons & District Volunteer Fire Department, a plan should be 
developed to address emergency vehicle access during construction. 
 
 

 
 
 
Figure 4: Site Plan 

Options / Staff Recommendation 

Possible options to consider: 

Option 1: Issue the permit 

This would permit the proposed residential development on the property to 
proceed. 

Staff recommend this option.  

Option 2:  Refer the application to the Area F APC  

The APC would discuss the proposed variance in consideration of the Board’s 
DVP policy and provide a recommendation to the EAS. Further notification is not 
required with this option.  

Option 3: Deny the permit 

41



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) Electoral 
Area F Page 7 of 7 
 

The zoning bylaw regulation would continue to apply, and the auxiliary structures 
would either be required to be removed or relocated to comply with the required 
setback.  

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The proposed variance was reviewed and evaluated for conformance with the SCRD Board policy 
13-6410-6 (Development Variance Permits) criteria. 

CONCLUSION 

The proposed development variance permit would facilitate the construction of a single-family 
residence. Given the lot’s smaller size and challenging topography, staff support the proposed 
variance as a unique design solution for a lot with limited buildable area. Accordingly, staff 
recommend issuing the development variance permit with the condition that a traffic management 
plan be developed prior to construction commencing. If approved, the applicant would be required 
to comply with all relevant permitting processes. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Comments Received 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Reviewed by: 
Manager X – J. Jackson Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative X – S. Reid 

CAO X – D. McKinley Assistant 
Manager X – K. Jones 

42



DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road): Neighbour Comments 

1) Ian and Marilyn Crichton

“Tideview Road is a dead end, NOT a through road as depicted on the SCRD map. It ends at our 
property. It is also a very narrow unmaintained road. 

When Scott Keck (applicant) had drilling done one his property this past summer (without 
informing us) we were cut off from access to our property for 8 hours. 

With zero setback, this proposed construction will effectively cut off emergency services to 3 
properties. 

With ‘0’ setback there will be no area for staging on the development property. This will further 
obstruct access to the 3 properties beyond 1504 Tideview. 

2) Elizabeth Rains and Al Hyland

House would conflict with the character of the neighborhood 

The drawing attached to the document shows a house that is extremely out of character with 
the neighborhood. All homes in the Tideview neighborhood show a historic cottage-like style, 
significantly unlike the proposed construction. They are back from the road, separated from it by 
greenery, unlike the proposed construction. Tourists strolling through the area as they wait for 
the ferry have remarked about the charming rural feeling of the neighborhood. The proposed 
house would harm that ambience with its stark, city condo-like appearance. Please see the 
attached images of the closest homes.  

Safety concerns: Tideview Road is misrepresented and is not a through-road 

The architectural drawing from the applicant misrepresents the appearance of Tideview Road, 
making it seem wide and evenly paved. In reality, it is a narrow, curving dirt road. We have a 
neighbor who is on RCMSAR 14 (search and rescue). When someone is in distress at sea, he has 
to quickly leave the Tideview parking area to provide emergency help. Having a driveway come 
off of 1504, the narrowest section of Tideview, or having the road blocked by construction 
equipment, would slow his response time, when every second counts in these life-or-death 
situations.  

Additionally, the map attached to the variance notification is misleading. It suggests that 
Tideview is a through-road. Rather, Tideview ends at #1512. A one-metre cliff separates the 
1512 parking area from our driveway.  

We have been told that the applicant intends to have his construction equipment exit Tideview 
Road through our driveway. Our driveway is neither a through-road nor part of Tideview. 

Attachment A

43



Rather, in the 1970s MOTI designated it as a driveway allowance for my home. Part of the 
allowance is on my property. We do not allow uninvited vehicles to drive through our property, 
especially not construction trucks. Please see the attached map, which shows the actual position 
of Tideview Road.  

Plans for house show dangerous tree removal The variance drawing shows a view corridor 
looking out on Howe Sound, where now there are many trees. The 1504 property is an 
extremely steep slope (probably 80 degrees in most places). The trees are keeping the hillside 
intact. Their removal would compromise the delicate hillside.  

Tideview Road has a history of cave-ins 
No other property in the area has a zero variance except 1512 Tideview, where a variance ten 
years ago allowed construction of a retaining wall. That made the bank unstable. It has caved in 
twice recently, and the adjacent parking area can no longer be used. The landslide also too out 
a natural gas line harmed the neighbor’s property. The neighborhood is rightfully fearful of any 
construction done along the steep edge of Tideview. Let’s not chance a Seawatch situation here. 

The Smith Road – Tideview neighborhood is a harmonious area full of friendly people who 
always lend each other a hand. We all have a feeling of pride in being part of the Sunshine Coast 
Regional District. Yet I believe I can speak for everyone who lives near the variance property that 
we are puzzled by its approach.  

The owner of 1504 Tideview has not posted signs about the proposed variance. Nor has he 
shown the courtesy of visiting his neighbors, who were given a very short response time to the 
variance application. This has been distressing during the holiday season.  

We do not object to the 1504 owner’s right to build on the property as it is currently zoned. 
However, we believe that the SCRD had valid reasons to implement the setback rules for our 
neighborhood, and we see no reason why they should be vacated in this instance.  
The purchaser of 1504 knew what he was buying and should have proceeded with building plans 
that fit the zoning rules. Otherwise, those rules would appear to be either meaningless or an 
enticement for developers to buy at low prices, push to bend the rules, and make a killing. 

3) Eilis Carpentier and Mark Dombowsky 

We are wri�ng in regards to a no�ce aler�ng us to a development variance permit applica�on 
(#DVP00090), received in late December 2023. We reside at 1508 Tideview Road and are not in 
favour of the proposed variance.  

The necessity for such a variance is unclear. Other homes built along this road have a set-back 
of at least five metres. These regula�ons are public and were available to the developer when 
they chose to purchase the property.  

44



A primary concern for us is access. If such a variance is allowed, it will affect nega�vely all those 
who live beyond the proposed development. The rendering provided of the house proposed at 
1504 Tideview would lead one to believe that the road is a normal maintained road when in 
fact it is bordered by rocks and boulders and is, at its narrowest point, no more than 16 feet 
across. It is not possible for two cars to pass on this road. Tideview Road is also, crucially, a 
dead-end and not a through-road. Throughout the year, 3 households u�lize this road, moving 
in and out, some�mes with trucks, some�mes with trailers, in an already �ght space. Access for 
emergency vehicles is also already restricted and must not be impeded further.  

Another concern is the trustworthiness of the developer and their agents. While seismic work 
was being done on the developer’s behalf, complete disregard was shown for those living here. 
We were given no no�ce that such work was going to be undertaken. When atemp�ng to 
leave our premises the crew consistently told us that they would be “done in 20 minutes.” This 
went on for more than 8 hours. (It was clear the crew simply didn’t want to move their vehicles 
to let us out.) Given this experience, we are worried about the a�tude of this developer and 
the disdain already exhibited towards residents here. With only a single narrow access road, the 
3 houses on Tideview would be con�nuously blocked for the dura�on of any work being 
undertaken.  

To reiterate, it is extremely unclear why such a variance applica�on has been made or would be 
considered. No changes have occurred in the landscape or the layout of these lots since the 
developer purchased them and other houses on Tideview are built with the required set-back. 
Proper due diligence on the part of developers would disclose the feasibility of any project. 

4) Paweł Kapusta & Maëlle Collin 

We are concerned with the Statutory Notification for Development Variance Permit #DVP00090 
(1504 Tideview Road) which we received on December 22nd. 

The attached picture in the statutory notification is highly misleading. Tideview Road is a 
narrow, single-lane, unpaved path with no through-path. Allowing such a variance will heavily 
impede residents which park their vehicles on this road and any service vehicles which may need 
to pass through to the end. 

45



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT STAFF REPORT 

TO: Electoral Area Services Committee – January 18, 2024 

AUTHOR: Nick Copes, Planner II 

SUBJECT: Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) - 
Electoral Area A 

RECOMMENDATION 

(1) THAT the report titled Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis
Peninsula Road) - Electoral Area A be received for information;

(2) AND THAT Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road)
be issued to vary Zoning Bylaw No. 337 as follows:

(a) Section 611.4 (a) to reduce the setback for a structure adjacent to a front parcel
line from 5 m to 2.36 m for the building and 1.66 m for projections;

(b) Section 611.4 (c) to reduce the setback for a structure adjacent to a side parcel
line from 1.5 m to 1.46 m.

BACKGROUND 

The SCRD received a Development Variance Permit application (DVP00095) for the property at 
4141 Francis Peninsula Road in Electoral Area A to retroactively reduce the setback for structures 
from a front and side parcel line. This application seeks to permit an existing shed with attached 
decks and raised walkway constructed without a permit to remain on the property.  

The purpose of this report is to present this application to the Electoral Area Services Committee 
for consideration and decision.   

DISCUSSION 

Analysis 

The property at 4141 Francis Peninsula Road is 3067.56 m2. It is zoned R2 and bordered by other 
R2 properties and the ocean to the north.   

Zoning Bylaw No. 337 contains the following regulation: 

611.4  No structure may be located within:   

(a) 5 metres of a front parcel line;
(b) 2 metres of a rear parcel line;
(c) 1.5 metres of a side parcel line; or
(d) 4.5 metres of an exterior side parcel line.

The bylaw has siting exemptions for projections which have been accounted for in the 
determination of the required variances.  

ANNEX C

46



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 2 of 8 

MOTI has a 4.5 m setback to a property line fronting a highway (front parcel line), therefore if this 
Development Variance Permit is approved, the applicant will additionally require a setback permit 
from MOTI. 

The applicant wishes to retain a recently-constructed auxiliary building (a shed with attached 
decks and raised walkway) constructed within the required 5 m front setback and 1.5 m side 
setback. The applicant notes that a shed has existed in that location for at least 15 years and it 
was recently determined that it needed to be rebuilt due to water damage. The existing location 
was deemed safe for the use intended in a 2006 geotechnical report and was thought to be the 
most suitable location for the rebuild.  

The building department issued a stop work order as construction had started without a building 
permit. Afterwards it was determined that a Development Variance Permit application was 
required. While the location is within the Coastal Slopes Development Permit Area a development 
permit is not required for low importance structures such as sheds. 

The proposed development plans are included in Attachment A. Table 1 below provides a 
summary of the application.  

Table 1 – Application Summary

Applicant: Caroline Pedersen 

Legal Description: LOT A BLOCK 36 DISTRICT LOT 1390 GROUP 1 NEW WESTMINSTER 
DISTRICT PLAN BCP38564 

PID: 027-717-810

Electoral Area: Area A 

Civic Address: 4141 Francis Peninsula Road 

Zoning: R2 (Single and Two Family Residential) 

OCP Land Use: Residential A 

Proposed Use: To permit the retention of a shed with attached decks and raised walkway. 

An auxiliary building may be used for storage, office use etc. An auxiliary 
building may not be used as a dwelling or for overnight accommodations. 

47



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 3 of 8 
 

 
 
Figure 1 - Location Map   

 
 
Figure 2: Aerial Photo 
 

48



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 4 of 8 
 

 
Figure 3: Existing Development subject to Variance 

Consultation 

The development variance permit application has been referred to the following agencies for 
comment: 

Referral Agency Comments 

SCRD Building Division 

• A building permit will be required including a 
Registered Professional for structural requirements. 

• The east elevation will be required to be of non-
combustible cladding and a 45min Fire Resistive 
Rating to the wall assembly. 

• Stairs, railings and guards will be required to be BC 
Building Code compliant. 

• All other relevant BCBC conditions will apply. 

shíshálh Nation Comments not received at time of report writing. 

Pender Harbour Fire Department No concerns. 

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure 
(MOTI) 

A setback permit is required. No comments received at 
time of report writing.  

Neighbouring Property Owners/Occupiers 

Notifications were mailed on December 20, 2023 to 
owners and occupiers of properties within a 50 m radius 
of the subject property. No comments were received prior 
to the report review deadline. 

Notifications to surrounding properties were completed in accordance with Section 499 of the 
Local Government Act and the Sunshine Coast Regional District Bylaw No. 522. No comments 

49



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 5 of 8 
 

were received prior to the report review deadline. Those who consider their interests affected may 
attend the Electoral Area Services Committee meeting and speak at the call of the Chair.  

The applicant is responsible for ensuring all work undertaken complies with the Heritage 
Conservation Act. 

Applicant’s Rationale & Planning Analysis  

Staff have evaluated this application using SCRD Board policy 13-6410-6 (Development Variance 
Permits) as criteria. The criteria includes the following: 

1. The variance should not defeat the intent of the bylaw standard or significantly depart from 
the planning principle or objective intended by the bylaw;  
 

2. The variance should not negatively affect adjacent or nearby properties or public lands; 
 

3. The variance should not be considered a precedent, but should be considered as a unique 
solution to a unique situation or set of circumstances;   

 
4. The proposed variance represents the best solution for the proposed development after all 

other options have been considered; and  
 

5. The variance should not negatively affect the natural site characteristics or environmental 
qualities of the property.  

Applicant Rationale 

The applicant’s rationale in support of the proposed variance include the following key points: 

• A shed has existed in this location for at least 15 years and was there when the applicant 
bought the property in 2009.  

 
• The auxiliary structure, because of its nature as a non-habitable living space can be 

considered a low-risk structure. Additionally, a geotechnical report has noted the location to 
be advantageous because it is situated directly on a natural rock foundation, similar in size 
to the structure, which provides a very firm footing unlikely to be found elsewhere on the 
property. As a result, the structure is unlikely to succumb to soil liquefaction or slope 
collapse. Its construction will follow the guidelines of the geotechnical report.   

 
• The structure does not impinge upon the access easement or the neighbour's access to the 

property. 
 
• In relation to the setback to the highway, the applicant notes that the structure does not have 

a negative impact on the roadway as the peak of the shed roof is a few meters below the 
level of the road and is normally well concealed by trees, though at present, due to BC Hydro 
trimming trees, it can be seen if one stands above it on the road and looks down.   

 
• The shed only requires a 0.04m reduction to the required setback to the easterly neighbour's 

property.  
 
• The unique aspects associated with this site include the topography which steeply slopes 

down from the road, landing perpendicularly upon a large, flat, slightly inclined rock which 

50



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 6 of 8 
 

lends itself very well to having a small structure upon it. It would be challenging to find 
another suitable location for this structure as space is limited on the property. The only 
alternative site is a grassy area where children play, building a shed in such a space would 
take away that grassy area which is also frequented by deer and may also obstruct parking. 
Maintaining the location of the shed would result in no further land alteration or negative 
environmental impact on the property. 

Staff Comment 

Staff provide the following comments on the proposed variances and applicant’s rationale: 

• The reduction of the front parcel line setback from 5.0m to 2.36m, given the topography of 
the site, which conceals the structure from the highway, and the nature of the structure, 
does not create any safety concerns and only has a limited visual impact. 

 
• MOTI setback permit decision should address sufficiency of the present highway right-of-

way and compatibility of a reduced setback with the Ministry's transportation objectives. 
 
• The reduction of the side (east) parcel line from 1.5m to 1.46m is minimal in scope and 

impact. 
 
• The location of the shed does not impact the access easement on the property, which also 

serves the property to the east. 
 
• The location of the shed is appropriately sited from a geotechnical perspective and does not 

result in any further land alteration and related environmental impacts. 

Staff are supportive of the requested variance due to fact, it has minimal impact on the highway 
and neighbouring property to the east; allows for a newly constructed shed to remain in an 
appropriate location on the site, where a shed has existed for at least 15 years; and does not 
result in any further land alteration on the property. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 4: Site Plan (Note: the Site Survey (Attachment A) is also attached to the report) 

Options / Staff Recommendation 

Possible options to consider: 

Option 1: Issue the permit 

This would permit the proposed residential development on the property to 
proceed with finalizing permits, including a MOTI setback permit and Building 
Permit, to retain the existing auxiliary building. 

Staff recommend this option.  

Option 2:  Refer the application to the Area A APC  

The APC would discuss the proposed variance in consideration of the Board’s 
DVP policy and provide a recommendation to the EAS. Further notification is not 
required with this option.  

Option 3: Deny the permit 

The zoning bylaw regulation would continue to apply, and the auxiliary structures 
would either be required to be removed or relocated to comply with the required 
setback.  

52



Report to Electoral Area Services Committee - January 18, 2024 
Development Variance Permit DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) 
Electoral Area A Page 8 of 8 
 

STRATEGIC PLAN AND RELATED POLICIES 

The proposed variance was reviewed and evaluated for conformance with the SCRD Board policy 
13-6410-6 (Development Variance Permits) criteria. 

CONCLUSION 

The proposed development variance permit would facilitate retention of an existing auxiliary 
structure, built/under construction without a permit. The proposal is the most practical way for the 
applicant to allow the existing structures to remain. The proposal is reasonable given the history 
of a shed in this location and the minor nature of the variance. Staff recommend issuing the 
development variance permit. If approved, the applicant would be required to comply with all 
relevant permitting processes, including obtaining a MOTI setback permit. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Survey Plan 
 
 

 
Reviewed by: 
Manager X – J. Jackson Finance  
GM X – I. Hall Legislative X – S. Reid 

CAO X – D. McKinley Assistant 
Manager X – K. Jones 

53



2.36
1.96

C,,

00ct:0(n

2.69

(.fl00

I

IIIII

i

‘I
I

,1

I1II
it

\
/

ii
Cf

/
ç
ô
,

I

—
—

—
.
—

—
.

—
.
.
.
‘
—

/—
—

“-“—
-—

I

I

1.66

0

I

/

C’4

I

(s
:30

0

0
?

L
I

I
0

Attachment A

54

nick.copes
Highlight

nick.copes
Highlight

nick.copes
Highlight



SUNSHINE COAST REGIONAL DISTRICT 

Ports Monitors (POMO) Committee 
December 11, 2023 

Held at the SCRD Office Cedar Room located at 1975 Field Road, 
Sechelt B.C. and electronically via Zoom 

MEETING NOTES 

PRESENT: POMO Committee Member (Gambier Harbour) Bruce Pollock (Chair) 
POMO Committee Member (Halkett Bay) Rob Cocquyt 
POMO Committee Member (Hopkins Landing) John Rogers 
POMO Committee Member (Eastbourne) Trish Cowley 
POMO Committee Member (Port Graves)  Andrew Kennedy 
POMO Committee Member (Keats Landing) John Richardson 

ALSO PRESENT: SCRD Director, Electoral Area B J. Gabias (Alt. Liaison)
SCRD Director, Electoral Area E D. McMahon
SCRD GM, Community Services S. Gagnon
SCRD, Capital Project Coordinator (Ports) K. Koper
SCRD Administrative Assistant/Recorder A. Adam
Public  0

REGRETS: SCRD Director, Electoral Area F K. Stamford (Liaison)

CALL TO ORDER 1:03 p.m. 

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Roundtable introductions of Ports Monitors (POMO) Committee members, Elected Official Liaisons, and 
SCRD staff members in attendance.  

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

It was acknowledged that the Ports Monitors (POMO) Committee meeting was held within the traditional 
territory of the shíshálh and Sḵwx̱wú7mesh Nations. 

AGENDA 

The agenda was amended to add a reflection on the contribution and passing of POMO member Joseph 
Wright at the end of the Roundtable. The agenda was adopted as amended.  

MEETING NOTES 

The Ports Monitors (POMO) Committee Meeting Notes of May 29, 2023 were received and accepted as 
presented. 

ANNEX D

55



Ports Monitors (POMO) Committee Meeting Notes – December 11, 2023 Page | 2 

PORTS MONITORS COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS UPDATE 

The General Manager, Community Services provided a verbal update regarding the status of the Ports 
Monitors Committee representatives and appointments.  

It was noted that there are three vacant positions on the POMO Committee: Halfmoon Bay dock, Vaucroft 
dock and West Bay dock. Recruitment is ongoing.   

Staff will bring a report to the Board for re-appointment of John Richarson and Bruce Pollock to the POMO 
Committee for an additional two-year term prior to the end of the current term expiring March 2024.  

PORTS DIVISION UPDATE 

The Capital Projects Coordinator reviewed the staff report that was attached to the agenda package as 
Annex B.  

KEATS LANDING 

The Capital Projects Coordinator provided a verbal update on Keats Landing, which has been closed to 
vehicular traffic for safety reasons. Staff are working with an engineer to determine what repairs are 
necessary and will be presenting a report to the SCRD Board on the next steps (report anticipated prior to 
the end of Q1 2024).  

POMO members expressed their desire to see the repairs addressed as soon as possible due to the 
challenges and inconveniences of not having vehicular access presents. Staff were also asked to get 
further clarity (if possible) on load capacity for the dock, and whether or not golf carts could be permitted. 
It was noted that the dock is very busy in the summer.    

ROUNDTABLE 

Justine Gabias, SCRD Director, Electoral Area B (Vaucroft & Halfmoon Bay) 
 No updates to report.
 Will continue to recruit community members.

John Richardson, POMO Committee Member (Keats Landing) 
 Expressed desire to address repairs as soon as possible to reopen dock to vehicles.

Trish Cowley, POMO Committee Member (Eastbourne) 
 The repairs done in the summer were much appreciated.
 Requested that staff provide as much notice as possible for closures and additional information on

how long the closure is anticipated for.

Rob Cocquyt, POMO Committee Member (Halkett Bay) 
 No concerns.

Andrew Kennedy, POMO Committee Member (Port Graves) 
 Wharf in good condition.
 The handrail is weathering on the main wharf. Request for new boards and a fresh coat of paint.

The SCRD Ports Division reported that this is already on the list of repairs planned for Port Graves. 

56



Ports Monitors (POMO) Committee Meeting Notes – December 11, 2023 Page | 3 

Bruce Pollock, POMO Committee Member (Gambier Harbour) 
 All worked well this summer.
 Aware of the cross bracing to be replaced/repaired.

Bruce Pollock, POMO Committee Member (West Bay) 
 Aware of float to be fixed.

John Rogers, POMO Committee Member (Hopkins Landing) 
 Aware of the barricade that was reinstalled on the dock.

Shelley Gagnon, General Manager, Community Services 
 RFP for Hopkins Landing rebuild closes this week.  This will be awarded in early 2024.

Joesph Wright Recognition 
Bruce Pollock shared about the unfortunate passing of Joesph Wright, a member of the POMO 
Committee, and a very busy man who was involved in many things. He had great achievements as an 
educator. There will be a memorial at the Gambier Community Hall in the spring. He will be missed.  

NEXT MEETING May 2024 

ADJOURNMENT 1:45 p.m. 

57


	Jan 18 2024 EAS Agenda
	ANNEX A - 2024-Jan-18 EAS Staff Report - BYL00047 Third Reading FINAL
	Attachment A - Bylaw No. 722.6
	Attachment B - Subdivision Plan
	Attachment C - Public Hearing Report

	ANNEX B - 2024-January 18-EAS report DVP00090 (1504 Tideview Road) FINAL
	Attachment A - Neighbour Comments

	ANNEX C - 2024-January 18-EAS report DVP00095 (4141 Francis Peninsula Road) FINAL
	Attachment A - Survey Plan

	ANNEX D - 2023-DEC-11 Ports Monitors POMO Committee Minutes FINAL



